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MAYOR/CEO MESSAGE 
2017-18 ANNUAL REPORT

Bob Manning
Mayor

John Andrejic
CEO

The completion of the Annual Report is always 
an opportune time to reflect on the year that 
was and the achievements of this Council, both 

economically and socially.

Looking back on 2017-18, this has been a positive 
year for the Cairns region, with the city experiencing 
significant commercial construction activity that will 
not only add another tier to our tourism accommodation 
assets, but has generated an air of confidence in the 
business sector and inspired further investment.

Some big announcements such as the go ahead for 
dredging of the Cairns channel, the commencement of 
direct flights from China by China Southern Airlines, 
and the expansion of the Cairns Convention Centre, has 
provided a much needed boost to our city and augers 
well for the future prosperity of this community.

Financially, Cairns Regional Council remains among 
the strongest performing councils in Queensland 
and has once again delivered an operational surplus 
($1.8 million), achieved through effective and efficient 
governance and operations.

Council started the financial year with a $294 
million balanced budget for the 5th consecutive 
year, complemented by a $169 million Capital Works 
program, and, for the fourth year in a row, struck a 
modest increase in rates at just 1.75%.

The organisation is well placed for the future with long 
term modelling indicating Council’s ability to maintain 
outstanding levels of service, continue investment in 
infrastructure with an annual capital works program 
averaging $162 million per annum whilst maintaining 
an average rates rise within CPI expectations over the 
10-year period.

Amongst the many highlights during the financial 
year was the inclusion of Cairns on the Queens Baton 
Relay and the city’s role in the Commonwealth Games 
basketball competition; the delivery of more than $13 
million of projects aimed at enhancing the liveability 
and well-being of our city through recreational 
facilities; the $5 million upgrade of the Lake Street 
car park; and $70 million of works improving our 
core infrastructure including roads, bridges, kerb and 
channel, footpaths and water and waste facilities.

To ensure Council can continue to deliver the services 
and facilities our community expects and deserves 
in future years, significant planning strategies were 
completed for areas such as arts and culture, waste 
reduction and recycling, walking and cycling, major 
events, and  CCTV.

Construction progressed on the new Cairns Performing 
Arts Centre, major sporting precincts such as Walker 
Road and Petersen Park were completed, and furthered 
its commitment to our precious environment by leading 
the “Straws No More” campaign, aimed at stopping 
plastic straws from entering the ocean, and by 
installing additional solar panels on Council buildings, 
bringing the total number of solar panels to 5120, 
creating over 1 megawatt of renewable energy capacity.

The achievements of 2017-18 have provided a steady 
platform for an equally successful 2018-19, drawing 
from the mantra “Serving the Community” and an 
objective to do better tomorrow what we do well today.
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Support and  
respect  

distinctive 
and vibrant 

communities

Be innovative 
and creative, 

grow and  
diversify our 

economy

• Economy
• Natural Assets

THIS REPORT
Each year Cairns Regional Council 
produces an Annual Report as 
required in accordance with 
Division 3 of the Local Government 
Regulation 2012.
To request a copy of this report 
please contact Cairns Regional 
Council or alternatively you can 
download a copy from our website;
www.cairns.qld.gov.au

ADMINISTRATION CENTRE
119-145 Spence Street
Cairns Queensland 4870

POSTAL ADDRESS
PO Box 359 Cairns Q 4870
Phone: 1300 692 247
Email: council@cairns.qld.gov.au

OUR VISION, 
GOALS 
AND VALUES...
Our Vision

Value our natural 
environment, 
lifestyle and 
surroundings

Our Strategy

Our Strategic Goals

To promote an environment which values and enhances our unique lifestyle, 
iconic natural assets, supports a sense of community and furthers out 
economic prosperity.

• Livability

• Community and Culture
• Serving the Community
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THE REGION 

The Cairns Region encompasses 1687 square kilometres of land 
on a narrow coastal strip between the Great Dividing Range and 
the Coral Sea.  It extends from the Eubenangee Swamp (near 
Mirriwinni) in the south to the Macalister Range (near Ellis 
Beach) in the north. Cairns city is the principal centre of the 
region and is centrally located along the coastal strip.

AREA
1687
sqkm

 
The region is part of Australia’s Wet Tropics and is framed 
by the lush World Heritage listed Wet Tropics rainforest to 
the west and north and the Coral Sea and World Heritage 
listed Great Barrier Reef Marine Park to the east. These 
attributes make the region a world renowned destination.

World Heritage Areas 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY: Cairns Regional Council would like to acknowledge the traditional custodians of the land. 
Council would also like to pay respect to their Elders both past and present and extend that respect to other Indigenous Australians who are 
present .

1,184 
COUNCIL EMPLOYEES

9COUNCIL DIVISIONS
1 MAYOR, 
9 COUNCILLORS

5,275,335
PASSENGERS 

THROUGH  
THE AIRPORT 

PER YEAR

164,536
Population 

WET TROPICS  
& THE GREAT   
BARRIER REEF

$3.96BILLION
ASSETS ON BALANCE SHEET

$366MILLION
REVENUE
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$294M
BALANCED 
BUDGET

2017-18  FEATURED A

$169 M 
Capital works Program

$3M
Committed for tourism marketing

$422,000
FOR ECONOMIC AND  
INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT

1.75%
RISE  IN GENERAL  RATES  ACROSS 
ALL RESIDENTIAL CATEGORIES

17 18

IN GRANTS FOR 
COMMUNITY 
ORGANISATIONS $1.6M
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This community financial report shows a summary of the Financial Statements with the 
aim of providing understandable information to the members of our community. The use 
of graphs allows readers to easily evaluate Council’s financial performance and financial 
position. In addition, this report includes key financial statistics and ratios that can also 
be useful indicators of Council’s performance.

2017/18 RESULTS AT A GLANCE
Cairns Regional Council has performed well throughout the 2017/18 financial year, finishing the year with a 
$1.8M operating surplus.  

Council continued to invest heavily in community infrastructure by delivering a capital works program 
in excess of $156M. Council was able to achieve these results with a record low rates rise and without 
compromising its exceptional service to the community.

$ Million
Operating Revenue                 295.1 
Operating Expenses               293.3 
Operating Position                  1.8

Capital Income 70.9 
Capital Expense 37.6
Net Result 35.1 

Total Assets              3,968.0
Total Liabilities                181.8
Net Community Assets              3,786.1

Total Capital Works Expenditure 156.9 
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The Financial Statements in this report cover a 12 month period ending 30 June 2018. The Financial Statements 
contained in this report include:

• Statement of Comprehensive Income – displays Council’s revenue and expenses with the resulting
profit or loss amount known as the net result attributable to Council. This also displays Council’s other
comprehensive income.

• Statement of Financial Position – displays the assets (what we own), liabilities (what we owe) and
community equity (total assets minus total liabilities).  Community equity can be a reflection of how healthy
the position of Council is at a given point in time.

• Statement of Cash Flows – reports how revenue received and expenses paid impact on Council’s cash
balances.

• Statement of Changes in Equity – presents a summary of transfers to and from equity accounts including
retained surplus, capital and other reserves.

• Notes to the Financial Statements – provides a detailed breakdown of all significant items in the Financial 
Statements and what these items represent.

• Long-Term Measures of Financial Sustainability – presents three sustainability indicators which have been
set by the Department of Local Government, Infrastructure and Planning to help monitor the long-term
sustainability of all councils across Queensland.

BACKGROUND
ASSUMPTIONS AND PRINCIPLES:

Under the requirements of the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council is required to prepare general 
purpose Financial Statements for the period. This report has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and complies with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local 
Government Regulation 2012. 

Council controls and manages infrastructure assets that are largely unique to the public sector. These 
infrastructure assets include roads, bridges, footpaths, water reticulation and sewerage assets, which 
generally have very long useful lives and can only be used for providing local government services. The costs 
associated with the maintenance, depreciation and replacement of these assets form a material part of 
Council’s annual expenditure. 

Council continues to implement its Asset Management Plans in order to facilitate sound strategic asset 
management decisions.

Council’s Debt Policy aims to finance capital works and new assets to the greatest extent possible from 
revenue, grants and subsidies or any specific reserves primarily established to fund capital works.  
Operating activities or recurrent expenditure cannot be funded by borrowings.

The business activities of Cairns Water, Cairns Resource Recovery (Cairns Waste) and Cairns Works return a 
dividend to Council in recognition that they have been established to further good governance.  
Dividends are then utilised to provide services and infrastructure to the community.
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CORPORATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REVENUE:
Revenue for the 2017/18 financial year is sourced from various items as shown in the following graph.

The majority of Council’s revenue (68.9%) is sourced from net rates and utility charges. Another significant 
source of revenue is capital grants, subsidies and donations (19.4%), which are received solely for the purpose 
of funding current and future capital works in order for Council to continue to supply important infrastructure to 
the community.

Rates & Levies  $252.3M

Capital - Grants, subsidies,  
contributions & donations $70.9M   
Fees & charges $20.8M

Other recurrent revenue $9.6M

Operating- Grants, subsidies,  
contributions & donations $9.6M

Interest revenue $2.8M

T O T A L  R E V E N U E  $ 3 6 6  M I L L I O N
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EXPENSES:

Materials and services and employee 
costs make up 60.2% of the total 
expenditure for Council. Council has 
a strong labour workforce to provide 
maintenance, water and waste services, 
planning, community, sport and cultural 
services and capital infrastructure for the 
community.

Materials and services include 
advertising, agency and temporary staff 
costs, audit fees, communication and IT, 
grants to community groups, electricity, 
external services and hire, garbage 
collection services, rentals and repairs 
and maintenance. Refer to note 6 of the 
Financial Statements for further details.

OPERATING POSITION:
Council’s operating position reflects 
the organisation’s ability to meet its 
day-to-day running costs from operating 
revenue. 

The operating position is calculated 
by taking total operating expenses 
($293.3M) from total operating revenue 
($295.1M) and does not include revenue 
or expenditure amounts for capital 
projects.  

Council’s operating position as at 30 June 
2018 is a surplus of $1.8M which has 
decreased from a surplus of $6.4M in the 
2016/17 financial period.

This graph shows the operating position 
for 2017/18 compared to the operating 
position for the 2016/17 period.

Employee 
benefits  $95.4M

Materials &  
services $103.9M

Capital expenses 
$37.6M

Finance costs $2.9M

Depreciation &  
amoritisation 
$91.1M

T O T A L  E X P E N S E S  $ 3 3 0 . 9  M I L L I O N
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NET RESULT:

Capital revenue represents the following income streams: 

• Donated assets – infrastructure assets contributed by developers such as roads, drains, sewerage
mains and water mains represent non-cash revenue which is not available for Council operations or
future capital expenditure.

• Developer contributions – cash contributions made by developers to fund future infrastructure
assets have restrictions placed on their use and are constrained to capital reserves.

• Government subsidies and grants – this represents income received for the sole purpose of funding
capital works projects.

Capital expenses predominantly represent the value of assets replaced or disposed of throughout 
the year.

Further details on capital revenue and expenses are contained in note 4 and 7 of the Financial 
Statements. 
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$70M -

$60M -

$50M -

$40M -
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

P R O P E RT Y,  P L A N T  &  E Q U I P M E N T  $ 3 . 9 B 
Transport  assets $1,411.6M 

Sewerage $656.8M

Drainage $483.7M 

Water $522.2M  

Land & site improvements $333 M   

Buildings & other structures $267.2M 

Work in progress $150.9M 

Plant, equipment & other assets $67.0M 

Solid waste disposal $12.8M 

Intangible assets $3.9M

Non-current 
borrowings $98.8M

Current trade & 
other payables $45.7M 

Non-current  
provisions $21.2M

Current borrowings $11.9M

Current provisions $4.1M

T O T A L  L I A B I L I T I E S  $ 1 8 1 . 3  M I L L I O N

Other current 
liabilities $0.1M

ASSETS
2017/18 2016/17
$ Million $ Million

Current Assets 58.9 51.7
Non-Current Assets 3,909.1 3,805.2
Total Assets 3,968.0 3,856.9

Council assets as at 30 June 2018 
total just under $4B. This includes 
$58.9M of current assets (liquid 
assets or amounts due to be 
received within twelve months) 
and $3.9B of non-current assets. 
Property, plant and equipment 
makes up 98.5% of total assets.

The following graph shows a 
breakdown of property, plant and 
equipment by asset category.

LIABILITIES
2017/18 2016/17
$ Million $ Million

Current Liabilities 61.8 68.7
Non-Current Liabilities 120.0 95.6
Total Liabilities 181.8 164.3

Total liabilities as at 30 June 2018 
are $181.8M. This includes $61.8M 
of current liabilities (due to be paid 
out within twelve months) and 
$120M of non-current liabilities. 
Liabilities mostly consist of loans, 
amounts owing to suppliers and 
amounts owing to employees for 
leave entitlements.

Interest bearing liabilities 
represent the largest component 
within Council’s liabilities and 
consist of loans from Queensland 
Treasury Corporation (QTC). Council 
loan borrowings are discussed 
further in the Queensland Treasury 
Debt section.

The following graph shows 
a breakdown of liabilities by 
category.
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BORROWINGS
During the year, Council drew down $32M of new loans with QTC to assist in the funding of Council’s capital 
works program.  Council also maintained a Working Capital Facility of $60M with QTC, however there were no 
working capital drawdowns as at 30 June 2018.  The total loan balance at year end was $110.7M.

The following table outlines the current (due within 12 months) and non-current (due after 12 months) allocation 
of outstanding loan borrowings.

2017/18 2016/17
$ Million $ Million

Current Borrowings 11.9 8.9
Non-Current Borrowings 98.8 78.6
Total QTC Borrowings 110.7 87.5

Principal and interest repayments are made on these borrowings on a monthly basis in accordance with the 
terms and conditions set by QTC. The repayment terms are reviewed on a regular basis in order to ensure that 
the expected loan term aligns with market movements.

The following table shows the split of Council’s debt service payments between principal and interest.

2017/18 2016/17
$ Million $ Million

Principal 8.8 8.5
Interest 1.7 1.6
Total Debt  
Service Payments 10.5 10.1

As at 30 June 2018 Council’s debt per rateable property is $1,534 (2017: $1,217).
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SUSTAINABILITY RATIOS

CONCLUSION
Council has finished the 2017/2018 financial year with a $1.8M operating surplus and has continued strong 
investment in community infrastructure through the delivery of a capital works program in excess of $156M.

The above results leave Council well placed for the future with long term modelling indicating Council’s ability 
to maintain outstanding levels of service, continue investment in infrastructure with an annual capital works 
program averaging $162M per annum whilst maintaining an average rates rise within CPI expectations over the 
10 year period.

Further details and breakdowns of all of the above items can be found in the Financial Statements and the 
detailed notes to the Financial Statements.
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CAPITAL WORKS PROJECTS
During the 2017/2018 financial year expenditure on capital works was $156.9M.  
The following table provides a breakdown of the capital works for 2017/2018 by asset category.

TOTA L  E X P E N D I T U R E  $ 1 5 6 . 9 M 
Waste 0%

Wastewater 18%

Water 5%

Building & 
Facilities 1%

Cultural
Services 20%

Drainage 3%
Fleet 4%

Information
Technology 3%

Libraries & 
Community 

Development 1%

Parks & 
Leisure 13%

Regulatory 
Services 

4%

Transport 27%

Parks & 
Foreshore 

1%
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Capital Works Highlights

Council incurred expenditure on the following capital works projects during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.

Major Items $
CULTURAL SERVICES
The Precinct – Cairns Performing Arts Centre $29,791,628
Community Land Acquisition $943,846

$30,735,474

PARKS AND LEISURE
Yorkeys Knob Foreshore Upgrades* $2,023,986
Walker Road Sporting Facilities $1,973,227
Petersen Park Development $1,802,702
Red & Yellow Walking Trail Upgrades* $1,706,501
Babinda Boulders Upgrade* $1,116,104
Centenary Lakes Nature Play* $1,095,611
Swimming Pool Renewals $951,063
Ryan Weare Park Cycleway $839,884
Cattana Wetlands Upgrade* $804,326
Esplanade Boardwalk Renewal $783,006
Barlow Park Track Refurbishment $747,315

$13,843,725

TRANSPORT AND MOBILITY
Lake Street Carpark Upgrade $5,179,732
O’Brien Road Upgrade* $2,017,683
Footpath Renewals $4,218,452
Rudge Bridge $1,454,808
Suburban Enhancement Program (SEP) $2,713,216
Logomeir Road $3,424,880
Pavement Rehabilitation $6,015,641
Road Infrastructure New and Upgraded Roads $7,539,752
Road Infrastructure Renewals $12,957,535

$45,521,698

WATER AND WASTE INFRASTRUCTURE
Mount Peter Trunk Gravity Main $2,632,931
Water Infrastructure Renewals and Upgrades $6,907,947
Waste Water Infrastructure Renewals and Upgrades $19,808,453

$29,349,331

*Denotes projects delivered by Council and funded through the Works for Queensland initiative 
by the Department of  Local Government, Racing & Multicultural Affairs.
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PARTICULAR RESOLUTIONS
List of the resolutions made under section 206(2) 

Thresholds reported in Note 1 of End Of Year statements.

Councillors 
Remuneration  
The following table shows 
the total Councillors’ remuneration 
and Fringe Benefits Tax payments 
for the 12 month period from  
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.  

OTHER FACILITIES
• Councillors are provided with access to a facsimile, scanner, printer, photocopier and paper 

shredder for business use.
• Council will provide to each Councillor the necessary stationary and personalised letterhead 

including postage costs, for the undertaking of duties directly associated with their position.
• Councillors are provided with fully maintained and serviced meeting/committee rooms, kitchen 

amenities and ablution facilities, which include the supply and laundering of bath linen.
• Meeting/committee room usage is on a Councillor priority basis. 
• Councillors are provided with a council landline telephone in the Council Administration build-

ing and a mobile telephone.
• Each Councillor will be provided with a single standard laptop and an iPad, as defined by 

Council’s Information Services Branch that can be used both at the Council work location and at 
the Councillor’s home office. Each laptop and iPad will be provided with appropriate hardware 
and software applicable to enable Councillors to perform their role. Council supplied laptops, 
iPads and mobile telephones may only be used for Council related work. Support for the Council 
supplied laptops, iPads and peripheral devices will be provided through the Information 
Services call centre (within standard business hours). If rectification requires more than phone 
support the Council provided laptop or peripheral devices will be returned to Spence Street 
office by the Councillor.

• Upon receipt of a claim with relevant receipts, a maximum amount of $600, per annum, will be 
reimbursed to Councillors for home communication expenditure.

MAYOR
• Separate office

accommodation with
Secretarial and Executive
Assistant Support. 

DEPUTY MAYOR
• Separate office

accommodation and
secretarial/administrative
support in accordance
with the established staff
structure.

OTHER COUNCILLORS
• Office accommodation and

secretarial/administrative
support in accordance
with the established staff
structure.

Councillors Expenses 
Reimbursement and 
Facilities Provided

In accordance with the Expenses 
Reimbursement and Support for 
Elected Representatives General 
Policy (1:02:04), Councillors are 
also provided with specific 
facilities and support as per the 
following:

* Differences in super contributions are 
due to Elected Member’s contribution 
preferences.

M Bob Manning 171,859 20,623 192,482 9,839
1 Brett Moller 101,554 12,187 113,741 11,192
2 John Schilling 101,554 12,187 113,741 3,706
3 Cathy Zeiger 101,554 9,648 111,202 3,200
4 Terry James 117,177 14,061 131,238 -
5 Richie Bates 101,554 12,187 113,741 -
6 Linda Cooper 101,554 9,648 111,202 2,408
7 Max O’Halloran 101,554 12,187 113,741 -
8 Jessie Richardson 101,554 12,187 113,741 5,481
9 Brett Olds 101,554 9,648 111,202 4,733

Div ELECTED  
MEMBER

TOTAL
REMUNERATION 

PAYMENT $

SUPER  
CONTRIBUTIONS

$
TOTAL

$
FBT 

EXPENSE

M Bob Manning - 10,402 
1 Brett Moller 14,478 - 
2 John Schilling 4,963 -
3 Cathy Zeiger 5,768 -
4 Terry James - -
5 Richie Bates - -
6 Linda Cooper 3,928 -
7 Max O’Halloran - -
8 Jessie Richardson 5,764 -
9 Brett Olds 10,702 - 

45,603 10,402

Div ELECTED  
MEMBER

VEHICLE
REIMBURSEMENT

$

VEHICLE 
COST

$
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COUNCILLOR ATTENDANCE AT COUNCIL MEETINGS

The following table displays the Councillors’ attendance at Council meetings for the period of 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.

13 1 10 9 8 9 9 7

Bob Manning The Mayor serves as the Ex-Officio of 
all of the Council’s Standing Committees and  
serves as Chairperson at Council’s Ordinary Meeting. 11 1 9 6 6 6 5 4

Brett Moller Chair of Governance Committee, Member of Planning  
& Environment Committee, Water & Waste Committee 
and Infrastructure Services Committee. 13 1 10 9 8 9 9 7

John Schilling Chair of Infrastructure Services Committee, 
Member of Planning & Environment Committee 
and Governance Committee. 13 1 10 9 7 9 9 7

Cathy Zeiger Chair of Sport & Community Services Committee, Member  
of Planning & Environment Committee, Cultural Services  
Committee  and  Infrastructure Services Committee  11 1 9 8 7 8 8 6

Terry James Chairperson of Planning & Environment Committee, 
Member of Planning & Environment Committee and  
Infrastructure Services Committee 11 1 10 8 7 8 9 7

Richie Bates Chair of Water & Waste Committee, Member of 
Planning & Environment Committee, 
and Cultural Services Committee. 13 1 9 8 7 7 8 6

Linda Cooper Chair of Cultural Services Committee, Member of 
Planning & Environment Committee 
and Governance Committee. 10 1 9 8 7 8 8 6

Max O’Halloran Member of Planning & Environment Committee, 
Sport & Community Services Committee and 
Water & Waste Committee 13 1 9 9 8 9 9 7

Jessie Richardson Member of Planning & Environment Committee, 
Cultural Services Committee, Sport & Community 
Services Committee and Governance Committee  13 1 10 8 7 8 8 6

Brett Olds Member of Planning & Environment Committee, 
Sport & Community Services Committee and  
Water & Waste Committee 13 1 10 8 7 8 7 6

T O T A L  N U M B E R  O F  M E E T I N G SM E M B E R S H I PN A M E
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CONDUCT AND PERFORMANCE OF COUNCILLORS

To ensure appropriate standards of conduct and performance are maintained by Councillors, a code of conduct 
has been adopted and a process is in place to deal with complaints. The Code of Conduct for Councillors 
sets out the standards of behaviours expected of Councillors of Cairns Regional Council. The requirements 
of the code are in addition to the roles, responsibilities and obligations of Councillors set out in the Local 
Government Act 2009.

Complaints recorded in accordance with Section 186 (f) of the Local Government Regulation 2012

(i) Complaints about the conduct or performance of Councillors for which 
no further action was taken under section 176C(2) of the Act; 7

(ii) Complaints referred to the department’s chief executive under section 176C(3)(a)(i) of the Act; 
(iii) Complaints referred to the mayor under section 176C(3)(a)(ii) or (b)(i) of the Act; 1
(iv) Complaints referred to the department’s chief executive under section 176C(4)(a) of the Act;  5
(v) Complaints assessed by the Chief Executive Officer as being about official misconduct; 
(vi) Complaints heard by a regional conduct review panel; 1
(vii) Complaints heard by the tribunal; 1
(viii) Complaints to which section 176C(6) of the Act applied. 

Section 186 (d) the total number of the following during the year-

(i) Orders and recommendations made under section 180 (2) or (4) of the Act; 1
(ii) Orders made under section 181 of the Act 

  Cr Richie Bates

Orders/recommendations in accordance with Section 186 (e) of the Local Government Regulation 2012

(i) The name of each Councillor 
for whom an order or 
recommendation was made 
under section 180 of the Act 
or an order was made under 
section 181 of the Act;

(ii) A description of the 
misconduct or inappropriate 
conduct engaged in by each 
of the Councillors;

(iii) A summary of the order 
or recommendation made 
for each Councillor

Failed to deal with a perceived 
conflict of interest in a 
transparent and accountable 
manner

a) an Order under s.180(2)(b) of the Act that Councillor 
Bates make an admission of error that he failed to 
declare a perceived COI when he was obliged to do so 
in respect of Agenda Item 5 at the meeting of Council 
held on 28 February 2018. This admission of error will 
be made by the Councillor to an Ordinary Meeting 
of the Council in open session within 30 days of the 
receipt of the copy of this Determination by the CEO.

b) An Order under s.180(2)(g) of the Act that Councillor 
Bates pay to the Cairns Regional Council an amount 
of $200.00, which is an amount of not more than 
the monetary value of 50 penalty units and that this 
amount be paid within 30 days of the date of this 
determination.

Pursuant to section 180(5)(j) of the Act, that Councillor 
Bates pay an amount of $500.00 to Cairns Regional 
Council and apologise to council at its next meeting.

  Cr Richie Bates

Knowingly disclosed 
commercial-in-confidence 
information about the financial 
contribution by the Council, in 
breach of section 171(3) of the 
Local Government Act 2009
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ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION COMPLAINTS

Cairns Regional Council is committed to the principles of natural justice and fairness in all administrative 
complaint dealings.

A centralised complaints management process was introduced to allow for better KPI management, cause 
tracking, continuous improvement and reporting through to resolution. Complaints General Policy and 
Administration Instruction has been reviewed and updated to ensure compliance with the Local Government 
Regulation 2012.

Reports highlighting all administrative complaints are reviewed by the Executive Team each quarter.

• The number of administrative action complaints made to the local government  - 1,033*

• The number of administrative action complaints resolved by the local
government under the complaints management process - 1,029

• The number of administrative action complaints not resolved by the
local government under the complaints management process - 18**

• The number of administrative action complaints under
paragraph (a)(iii) that were made in a previous financial year - Nil

* This number includes Administrative Action Complaints, Internal Reviews and Employee complaints from the public 
** Outstanding at the end of the financial year 2017-2018

PUBLIC SECTOR ETHICS ACT 1994 S23

Section 23
The Chief Executive Officer of a public sector entity must ensure that each annual report of the 
entity includes an implementation statement giving details of the action taken during the  
reporting period to comply with the following sections:

S15  Preparation of Codes of Conduct
Cairns Regional Council has the following Codes of Conduct:

• Code of Conduct for Councillors
• Code of Conduct (staff)
• Code of Conduct for Contracted Security  Providers

S21  Education and training
Council’s Corporate Induction Program ensures all staff appointed to Council are aware of 
and understand their rights and obligations under the Code of Conduct (staff)

S22  Procedures and practices of public sector entities 
All of Council’s procedures and practices reflect Council’s commitment to  
the ethical principles and obligations of the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994. 
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OVERSEAS TRAVEL
The annual report for a financial year must contain information about any overseas travel made by a 
Councillor or local government employee in an official capacity during the financial year. 

1. This overseas travel was fully funded by the Australian 
Water Association under its Water Operator Partnership 
program

 NAME DESTINATION PURPOSE AMOUNT $      Note

Bob Manning (Mayor) PNG Investment attraction for Cairns 1,775 

Bob Manning (Mayor) Singapore Meeting with various Tourism,  
Trade and Economic organisations 1,903 

Bob Manning (Mayor) Middle East Participation in a delegation visiting 
airlines led by Cairns Airport  15,794 

Terry James (Deputy Mayor) China China Marine Economy Expo 2017.  
Sister City engagement and promotion 
of International education, tourism  
and trade opportunities  2,301 

Angelo Finocchiaro  Sister City engagement and promotion 
(Program Leader   China  of International education, tourism and
Economic Development) trade opportunities   1,653 

Ian Fell (Local Disaster UNISDR ‘Making Cities Resilient Steering 
Coordinator) Hong Kong Committee’ meeting and Hong Kong

University Symposium   238 

Steve Albrecht   Australian Water Association 
(Assets Coordinator) Vietnam (AWA) Twinning Program   -   1

Simon Page  Australian Water Association 
(Manager Operations) Vietnam (AWA) Twinning Program    -   1

Ben Millar (Prin Engineer Australian Water Association 
Strat Plan Asset)  Vietnam (AWA) Twinning Program   -   1

Graham O’Byrne (General 
Manager Water & Waste) Vietnam Vietwater 17 Expo & Forum    -   1

Ian Fell (Local  

Disaster Coordinator) Seoul Guest speaker at UNISDR K-Expo-17   429 

Total Overseas Travel for Councillors & Employees 24,094
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 
TO COMMUNITY ORGANISATIONS
The annual report for a financial year must contain a summary of the local government’s expenditure for the 
financial year on grants to community organisations and expenditure from each Councillor’s discretionary fund.

ARTS AND CULTURAL GRANT STREAMS

Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF)
Council has a commitment to facilitate the building of strong, vibrant, and robust communities.  To assist in 
achieving this goal, Council’s Grant Program provides financial and in kind assistance to community based 
groups, individuals and organisations that are providing programs, activities, events and projects that enrich 
the diversity of cultural, social, sport and economic development opportunities available to the residents of 
the Cairns Region.

The desired outcome is to support more creative, innovative and self-reliant communities, where participation 
in community life is enabled and encouraged.

In the 2017/2018 financial year, Council provided the following community grants:

• Arts and Cultural Grant Streams
- Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF)
- Arts and Cultural Infrastructure Grants

• Community Development Grant Streams
- Community Development Grants

• Sport and Recreational Grant Streams
- Young People in Sport Grants
- Go Clubs Grants
- Sports Tourism Marketing Grants

• General Grant Streams
- Arts and Cultural, Community and Go Clubs In-Kind Assistance
- Major Community Infrastructure
- Major Local Community Facility Development Activity
- Mayor’s Discretionary Fund

• Event Grant Streams
- Local Community Event Grants
- Regional Event Grants
- Major Event Grants
- Events Inkind Grants
- Sports Tourism Marketing Grants

• Economic Development Grant Streams
- Resource and Performance Agreements
- Economic Diversification Fund
- Industry Development Fund
- Innovation

• Environmental Sustainability
- Community Sustainability Grant
- Nature-Based Learning Grant

• Rates Based Financial Assistance
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ARTS AND CULTURAL GRANT STREAMS

Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF)
The Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF) is a funding partnership between the Queensland Government 
(through Arts Queensland) and Cairns Regional Council. The program supports professional artists and arts 
practitioners living in regional Queensland. The program focuses on the development of quality innovative 
and energising art and arts projects for, by and with, regional communities.

The partnership between State and Local Government is important to ensure RADF grants are used in the best 
possible way to support professional arts and cultural development in regional Queensland.

Applicant Description Amount $
Rosie Miller ECOarts Grant 2018           1,500 

Roland Smith ECOarts Grant 2018           1,500 

Troy Schrieber Individual Professional Development 2018           1,500 

Cleopatra Pryce Individual Professional Development 2018           1,500 

Carole Lomax Individual Professional Development 2018           1,482 

Rita Pryce Individual Professional Development 2018           1,477 

Kathryn Ash Individual Professional Development 2018           1,402 

Shana Makoro Hoshino Individual Professional Development 2018             896 

Leigh Boswell Individual Professional Development 2018             562 

Trish Albert Round 1 2018         10,000 

Gondwana Indigenous Children’s Choir Round 1 2018           9,632 

Kickarts Contemporary Arts Ltd Round 1 2018           8,003 

Moses Warusam Round 1 2018           6,545 

Cairns Museum & CADCAI Round 1 2018           6,250 

Grace Dewar Round 1 2018           4,780 

Rob Eakin Round 1 2018           4,650 

Plural Theatre Round 1 2018           3,158 

Cairns Youth Orchestra Round 2 2017           2,550 

Saltwater Basketry Group Round 2 2018           9,375 

Cairns Tropical Writers Festival Round 2 2018           8,000 

Pete Marshall Round 2 2018           4,979 

ARC Disability Group Round 2 2018           3,800 

Jelly Oshen Round 2 2018           3,000 

Legends of Perhaps Round 2 2018           2,358 

Tim Warnock Round 2 2018          1,556 

Drum Infinity Group Round 2 2018           1,500 

Kathryn Ash Small Arts Grant 2017             500 

Jeremiah Johnson Music Small Arts Grant 2017             500 

Catherine Hunter-Galvin Small Arts Grant 2017              440 

REACH Strategic Initiative 2018         20,000 

Studio 105 Strategic Initiative 2018           2,000 

Mia Peled-Bolger Young Creatives Grant 2017             500 

Danielle Aquilina Young Creatives Grant 2018             500 

C T Libke Reimbursement of Prior Year Grant (3,776) 

E Anderson Reimbursement of Prior Year Grant (590) 

Inkmasters Reimbursement of Prior Year Grant (550) 

TOTAL REGIONAL ARTS DEVELOPMENT FUND (RADF) $121,478
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Arts and Cultural Infrastructure Grants

The Cultural Infrastructure grant stream aims to provide financial assistance to cultural  

organisations that wish to pursue building or material enhancements for their premises.

Applicant Project Amount $
Cairns Little Theatre Rondo Theatre Lighting & Audio System Upgrade      50,000 
Cairns Choral Society Replace External Lighting        50,000 
Cairns & District Woodworks Guild Dust Extraction System        49,919 
Cairns Brass Inc Security System & External Doors        20,520 
Babinda District Community Association Babinda Museum Design, Concept, Layout        17,509 
Cairns Bridge Club Carpet Replacement        11,476 
Cairns Potters Club Electrical renovations          1,560 
TOTAL ARTS AND CULTURAL INFRASTRUCTURE GRANTS $200,984
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COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANT STREAMS

Community Development Grants

The Community Services grant stream aims to provide financial assistance to not-for-profit groups 
that wish to pursue projects and activities which respond to local community needs and issues.

The aim of the Community Services grant stream is to encourage groups offering social services 
to the wider community to develop programs, activities, exhibitions and events, which make a 
positive contribution to community life in the Cairns Region.

Applicant Project Amount $
Community Services 

Cairns Historical Society Publishing Book            3,500 
ARC Disability Services Inc Tennis Active 2017            3,000 
Roman Catholic Trust Corp Diocese of Cairns We Are Cairns Art Exhibition Opening Event            2,034 
Pacific Communities Council FNQ Inc.  Pacific Communities Festival            1,500 
Cairns Safer Streets - 3M Pride Cairns Safer Streets - 3M Pride               934 
Islamic Society of Cairns Coffee n Chat Corner               901 
Cairns Community Broadcasters Inc Migrating to FNQ - Stories and Memories               900 
Lioness Club of Cairns Laptop Purchase               598 
Suroper Pty Ltd Cairns West Projects               473  

Youth Week 

Wuchopperen Health Service Ltd Youth Wellbeing & Kulture (WaK) Festival            4,500 
Headspace Cairns Youth Week            3,647 
QLD Police Citizens Youth Welfare  
Association Edmonton Youth Social Movie Night            3,177 
United Nations Youth Queensland Inc.  UN Youth Queensland Cairns Conference 2017            320 

Disability Action Week 

Freshwater Tennis Club Inc Wheelchair Procurement            5,780 
Deaf Services QLD Disability Action Week Golf Day             2,486 
Endeavour Industries Cairns All abilities basketball league pilot season            1,100 

Cairns Multicultural Month 

Cairns & Regional Multicultural Association Carma Multicultural Festival            1,500 
Samoa Community Cairns Council Inc Samoan Umu on the Beach            1,500 
Kalapata Children’s Charity Institution Ugandan Ceramic Workshop               996 
Japanese Society of Cairns Cairns Bon Dance Festival               748 

First Peoples, NAIDOC week 

Cairns NAIDOC Committee First People Cairns NAIDOC Friday in the Park            6,500 
Cairns Regional Community Dev. & ATSI Corp. Let’s Get Back to School Program            4,814 
Deadly Tennis 2018 Indigenous Big Serve Camp            2,500 
The Benevolent Society First People Cairns NAIDOC Neighbourhood Day        2,250 
Carers QLD Inc National Reconciliation Week Carers Celebration           963 
Koori Kids NAIDOC School Initiatives               450 

Total Community Development Grants $57,071
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SPORT AND RECREATIONAL GRANT STREAMS

Young People in Sport Grants

The Young People in Sport (YPIS) stream aims to assist young athletes living in the Cairns Regional Council area 
by providing financial assistance with the cost of representing Queensland at National sporting competitions or 
representing Australia at International sporting competitions.

Grants are based on the location of the competition and are allocated as follows:
• Competing within Queensland - $100 grant per athlete
• Competing Interstate - $300 grant per athlete
• Competing Internationally - $500 grant per athlete.

A maximum of $500 per athlete per financial year is available. 

In the case of members of a representative team, the level of support will be restricted 

to $1,000 per team per representative event.  

Recipient Sport

Cairns Basketball Inc.  U14 Boys & Girls teams Basketball Nationals

Barron Valley Gymnastics Club National Gymnastics Championships

Surf Life Saving QLD QLD State Championships

Cairns BMX Club BMX National Championships

Cairns United Futsal Club (Daniel Orwell) U14 AMF Futsal World Cup

Cairns United Futsal Club 

 (Santiago Cifuentes Sanchez) U14 AMF Futsal World Cup
Cairns Motorcycle Club (Narvin Grothues, Jay 
Rolt, Tayloe Tolt, Braden Plan, Levi Clarke) QLD MX Championship

Cairns Athletics (Emma Henley) Melanesian Regional Championships

Pace Running and Multisport (Conner Daniel,  

Tovy Gillen, Tanya Gunton) 2017 Australian Cross Country Championships

Cairns Basketball Inc.  U20 Australian Basketball Championships

Pace Running and Multisport (Sam Paino) 2017 Australian Cross Country Championships

Pace Running and Multisport (Brady McIntyre) 2017 Australian Cross Country Championships

Cairns BMX Club (Shannon Petre) BMX National Championships

Edmonton PCYC (Maylifa Pelesuma) Australian Boxing Championships

Edmonton PCYC (Mattarka Christensen) QLD Boxing State Titles

Surf Life Saving QLD State Youth Championships

Cairns BMX Club (Elisha Nesbit) 2017 BMX State Championships 

Cairns BMX Club (Teneille Nesbit) 2017 BMX State Championships 

Cairns United Futsal Club (Sophie Godwin) National Futsal Championships

Cairns United Futsal Club (Cameron Devries) National Futsal Championships
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GO CLUBS GRANTS

Go Clubs - Infrastructure Assistance Grants 

The Go Clubs Infrastructure Assistance Grants aims to assist clubs with the development of improved 
facilities.

Applicant Project Amount $
Earlville Tennis Club Solar System Installation          10,505 
Edmonton Junior Rugby League Canteen Shade Improvement          10,000 
Barron Trinity Bulls Sports Club  Kitchen & Canteen Fit Out          10,000 
FNQ Football Endeavour Park Clubhouse          10,000 
Marlin Coast Bowls Club Verandah Floor            9,818 

               Total Go Clubs - Infrastructure Assistance Grant $50,323

GENERAL GRANT STREAMS

Arts and Cultural, Community and Go Clubs In-Kind Assistance

In-Kind Assistance is available for arts and culture, community, and sport and active recreation organisations 
to undertake projects and activities.  In general, In-Kind Assistance means that Council provides materials or 
services within Council’s core business at no charge to the applicant. In-Kind Assistance grants are split into 
three areas.

a) Arts and Cultural In-Kind Assistance

Applicant Project Amount $

Centacare Cairns We Are Cairns Art Exhibition 5,000

Maureen Cameron Gift of Music Charity Concert 5,000

Cairns Art Society ARTescape 2017 5,000

Cairns Choral Society Grease the Musical 5,000

FNQ African Community Association International Day of the African Child 5,000

Peninsula Art Educators Association Energy Art exhibition 5,000

E Hunter Installation to Memento Mori 4,963

Pacific Communities Council FNQ Inc.  Pasifika Culture Festival “Healthy Land, Seas, Living” 4,773

Jennifer Frei Social Shoot Soiree 4,661

Sue Stitt Cairns Winter Music School Residency 4,542

Jute Theatre Company Joh for PM 4,073

UMI Arts Indigenous Markets UMI Arts Big Talk One Fire Indigenous Cultural Festival 3,000

Weave a While Basketry The NQ Weaving & Natural Fibres Exhibition 2018 2,580

Panz Inc. Panzfest 2017 2,552

Fusing Sand Fusing Sands Exhibition 1,864

Angela Murphy Prospect Terrace Creative 1,796

Jute Theatre Company Here We All Are 726

Wet Tropics Management Authority Snap the Tropics 717

Total Arts and Cultural In-Kind Assistance  $66,247
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b) Community Development In-Kind Assistance

Applicant Project           Amount $

728
6,773

Ricky Beresford We Are Cairns Art Exhibition 
Sister Cities 

Tree Removal Assessment 86
Total Community Services In-Kind Assistance  $8,081

c) Go Clubs In-Kind Assistance

Applicant Project           Amount $
The Cairns Cricket Association and  
Norths Cricket Club Tree removal 7,950
Earlville Pony Club Tree Trimming 4,417
Holloways Beach Community Garden Inc Fence Construction 4,185
Southern Suburbs Rugby League Concrete footing for Alley Park fields 1 & 3 4,116
Barrier Coast Archery Inc. Sealed Path Shooting Line 3,933
Earlville Pony Club Steel Chainwire Fence 3,800
Ellis Beach Yacht Club Tree removal 3,651
Barron Trinity Sports Club Facility Maintenance & Tree Trimming 3,582
Freshwater Tennis Club Inc Gate Widening and Ramp 3,025
Cairns PCYC Car Park reinvigoration 2,750
Leichhardt Junior Soccer Club Replace Lightbulb on Tower 2,559
Marlin Coast Bowls Club Concrete under club 2,374
Trinity Beach Tennis Club Facility Maintenance & Tree Trimming 1,961
Keriba Yadayl TSI Corp  Equipment Hire 1,622
Clifton Beach Tennis Club Replace Seats 1,604
Trinity Beach Tennis Club Install Bike Racks 1,433
Cairns & District Kart Racing Club Inc Race Track Linemarking & Street Sweeping 962
Cairns International Tennis Centre Electrical & Plumbing Compliance Inspection 735
Earlville Pony Club Waste/Recycling Collection 415
Cairns Cycling Club Boundary Fence 400
Leichhardt Junior Soccer Club Stump Removal 360
Mudcrabs Rugby Union Club Connect amenities plumbing 317
Manoora Community Association Garden Mix Supply and Delivery 263
Cairns Speedway Riders Assoc Barrier Reef 100 Speedway (20)

Total Go Clubs In-Kind Assistance (Essentials) $56,394

Go Clubs In-Kind Assistance (Field Maintenance)

Applicant Project           Amount $
Barron Trinity Sports Club Field Maintenance 1,581
Cairns Eagles AFL Ground Treat Sensitive Weed  1,051
Cairns Pirate Touch Football Association Inc.  Field Maintenance 1,008
Cairns Eagles AFL  Ground Maintenance 783
Barron Trinity Sports Club Turf Maintenance 327

Go Clubs In-Kind Assistance (Field Maintenance) $4,751

NAIDOC Week 
Prune Large Tree 

Cairns NAIDOC Committee 
Babinda Community Kindergarten 

397
97Japanese Delegates BBQ 

Babinda Community Kindergarten 
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Major Community Infrastructure Grant

Applicant Project Amount $

Russell Heads Progress Association R&P Agreement   75,000 
Total Major Event Grants  $75,000

Major Local Community Facility Development Activity

Applicant    Project Amount $ In-Kind

Cairns Historical Society Annual Contribution         37,390  
Department of Communities & Disability Services Manoora Community Centre         40,000  
Queensland Museum Service Level Agreement          19,636  
FNQ Sugar Services Pty Ltd Contribution for Maintenance & Electricity  

at Gordonvale Historical Museum         16,952  
Cairns Historical Society Parking Permits  6,736 

Total Major Event Grants $513,978  $6,736

Mayor’s Discretionary Fund

The Mayoral Discretionary Fund is an annual allocation provided in each budget to enable the Mayor to 
respond to emergent requests for financial assistance from community organisations. Grants to community 
organisations must be in accordance with Council’s Grant Program Policy.

Applicant Description Amount $

Biddigal Performing Arts Blacks in Dance Conference Los Angeles January 2018 5,000 

Cancer Council NQ Transport to Treatment Initiative 2,727 

Cairns Art Society Local Arts Awards for Excellence 2017  1,000 
St Johns Community Care Donation towards 2017 Seniors Event  1,000 

Cairns Lions Club Special Needs Christmas Party - World Festival of Magic         1,000 

Holloways Beach Markets Inc. Holloways Seniors Lunch/Carols by Candlelight   1,000 
Cairns Barrier Reef Lions Club Donation towards Day of Thanks for the Millennium Year of Lions            1,000 

Manoora Community Garden Costa Comes Calling Sponsorship   799 

Ribbons Ladies Game Fishing Club Donation towards Trophies for 2017 Tournament  500 

Edmonton Pony Club Sponsorship of Place Ribbons for 2018 Gymkhana  500 

Phoenix Cheerleading Inc Donation towards club uniforms  500 

Drum Infinity Mugendai Inc Donation towards All Australian Taiko Festival  500 

Special Children’s Christmas Party Special Children’s Christmas Party  500 

Neighbourhood Watch Manunda Sponsorship of consumables & equipment for fundraising activities  500 

Cairns Crocs Triathlon Club Inc.  Trophies and Medals for Tri De Femme 2017  500 

Immune Deficiencies Foundation Circus Quirkus tickets  455 

Trinity Beach Bulldogs Netball Club Donation towards club uniforms  455 

U3A Cairns Inc.  Donation for Community Handbell Classes  294 

Trinity Anglican School 2017 Speech Night Awards Sponsorship  250 

St Vincent De Paul Society Cairns Corporate & Community Sleepout   94 

 Total Mayor’s Discretionary Fund             $18,573



2017-2018  ANNUAL REPORT  030 CAIRNS REGIONAL COUNCIL  

EVENT GRANT STREAMS

Local Community Event Grants

To assist and support local organisations and individuals in the provision of traditional festivals or culturally 
significant events for their local community. Local community events serve to enrich the lives of residents and 
celebrate important occasions for the community. These events do not usually attract visitors from outside of 
town specifically for the event.

Applicant Project Amount $    In-Kind

Cairns & District Chinese Association Chinese New Year 2018          32,180  
Cairns Show Association R&P Agreement          28,411           12,805 
Babinda Harvest Festival Babinda Harvest Festival 2017          20,000               673 
The Great Pyramid Race & Country Fair Assoc. Inc The Great Pyramid Race & Country Fair 2017          18,731             1,324 
Cancer Council QLD Relay for Life            7,000  
Hekili Outrigger Canoe Club GBR Ocean Challenge & OC6 National Changeover Titles           7,000  
Cairns Waitangi Day Committee Waitangi Day            5,000  
Tourism Palm Cove Palm Cove NYE 2017 Fireworks            5,000  
Pacific Communities Council FNQ Inc.  Pacifika Youth Games            4,000                254 
Far North QLD Hospital Foundation “The Arrow Experience” 2018            4,000  
Freshwater Tennis Club Inc Run & Roll FNQ Wheelchair Tennis            3,200  
Rock Impact Incorporated Edmonton Community Carols by Candlelight 2017            3,000             1,024 
Mulgrave District Chamber of Commerce Gordonvale Carols in the Park 2017            3,000                447 
Babinda Colts Junior Rugby League 100 Year Anniversary            3,000  
Redlynch Valley Community Group Inc. Redlynch Christmas Festival 2017            3,000  
Babinda District Community Association Christmas in Babinda            2,500  
Cairns Target Shooting Club State 2018 Services & QA1500 Pistol Championships           2,500  
Machans Beach Community Association Machans Beach Super Suburb Sale 2018            1,000  
Redlynch Valley Community Group Inc. Redlynch Christmas Festival 2018            1,000  
Cairns Indonesian Australian Assoc.  Indonesian Cultural Festival                485             5,000 
Northern Pride Rugby League Game Day use of Barlow Park           2,599 
Cairns FC Home Games & Training           24,545 
Clontarf Foundation Clontarf Foundation Employment Forum 2017            6,000 
Cairns & Regional Multicultural Association Carma Multicultural Festival            5,220 
UMI Arts Indigenous Markets Big Talk One Fire            5,000 
Rainforest Reserve Australia World Cassowary Day            4,156 
Rotary Club of Cairns Mulgrave Rotary Duck Race            3,218 
FNQ Hospital Foundation The Power of Pallets 2017            3,000 
Diversicare Cultures in Harmony            3,000 
Aust. Arakanese Association Cairns Arakanese New Year            3,000 
Dr Edward Koch Foundation Suicide Prevention Event            2,958 
Tour de Cure Tour de Cure Signature Tour            2,920 
Oz Harvest Think, Eat, Save            2,840 
Access Community Housing  International Tenants Day            2,494 
Cerebal Palsy League of Queensland Choice, Passion, Life            2,326 
ARC Disability Services Inc Inclusive Games 2017            2,156 
R U OK? Ltd R U OK? Day            1,949 
Cairns RSL Sub Branch Veterans Walk & Breakfast            1,757 
Ark Ministries  Encounter 2017            1,749 
ARC Disability Services Inc Beats on the Narde            1,692 
Lifeline Cairns Out of the Shadows Walk            1,674 
PNG Wantoks Association Cultural & Family Day            1,598 
Sea Turtle Foundation World Sea Turtle Day            1,492 
Ronald McDonald Family Retreat Palm Cove Christmas Lights Ride            1,459 
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REGIONAL EVENT GRANTS

To nurture and grow an event that will drive economic development, raise the profile of Cairns nationally, 
generate positive social and cultural benefits and inspire residents of Cairns. 
Regional Events have the potential to develop into major events within three years. Typically, this type of 
event attracts 500-1000 participants/overnight visitors and has strong local support.

Applicant Project 
Cricket Australia Qld Bulls Sheffield Shield Match         45,000  
North Queensland Sports Foundation LGA Annual Contribution         37,944  
Tennis Australia Cairns Tennis International Pro Tour Event         30,000      3,555 
Australia Indigenous Basketball Inc 4th Annual Trans-Tasman Basketball Clash - Cairns 2017         20,000  
Tourism Palm Cove Reef Feast Palm Cove 2017         18,000    4,991 
Australasian Council of Women & Policing International Women & Law Enforcement Conference         15,520  
Cairns Tropical Pride Inc.  Cairns Tropical Pride Event 2017         14,166    14,130 
FNQ Amateur Turf Club Cairns Amateurs Carnival         10,000    23,478 
Tennis QLD 2017 Tennis in the Park    3,811 
Cairns Jockey Club Cairns Cup Carnival    1,764 
World Wide Sports Agency Crocodile Trophy      686 

Total Regional Event Grants $190,630 $52,415

Cairns Legacy Club ANZAC Rug Barlow            1,104 
The Indigenous Marathon Foundation NAIDOC Deadly Fun Run               958 
SANDS (Qld) - Stillbirth & Neonatal Death Support Cairns Walk to Remember               805 
Dave Masters ReefBeat               800 
Cairns Volleyball Assoc. King/Queen of the Beach               750 
Cairns RSL Sub Branch Defence Fam Fun               728 
Rare Friends FNQ Rare Disease Day Fun Run               699 
Centacare Cairns Budget Bites Challenge               534 
Playgroup QLD Cairns Messy Play               400 
RSPCA Muddy’s Event Lawn Hire               164 
Yorkeys Knob Residents Association Yorkeys Knob Carols               117 
Yorkeys Knob Residents Association Festival of the Knob                 39 
Abriculture Gimuy Fish Festival                 32 

Total Local Community Events $154,007  $167,460

Amount $    In-Kind
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MAJOR EVENT GRANTS

To grow a diverse portfolio of major events that will drive economic development of the region, promote Tropical 
North Queensland nationally and internationally, generate positive social, cultural and environmental benefits 
and inspire the residents of TNQ.

These are events that will attract significant numbers of event visitors, participants or media from outside the 
region and result in substantial and measurable outcomes in the region in which they are held. Typically, this 
type of event should attract 25,000-50,000 participants/overnight visitors staying in Cairns for 2-10 days. 
Council has also financially supported the following Major Events:

• Cairns Airport Adventure Festival incorporating the IRONMAN Asia Pacific Championships
• Cairns Leg of the Elton John Tour of Australia in 2017
• Targa Great Barrier Reef
• Mountain Bike World Championships
• Rugby League World Cup
• AFL Premiership Match
• NRL Premiership Match

EVENTS IN-KIND ASSISTANCE 
To provide assistance to organisations that wish to host events which make a positive contribution to 
community and quality of life in the Cairns region.  In general, In-Kind Assistance means that Council 
provides materials or services within Council’s core business at no charge to the applicant. In-Kind 
Assistance grants are split into three areas.

Applicant Project In-Kind

Australian National Sportsfishing Assoc. QLD  Sportfisher 2017 - 50 Year Celebration            5,465 
NAIDOC Committee Cairns Cairns NAIDOC Family Fun Day            3,000 
Spiritual Learning Centre Cairns Deepawali Festival            2,648 
St Vincent De Paul Society Cairns Corporate & Community Sleepout               602 
Muscular Dystrophy Cairns Ride               400 

Total Regional Event Grants $12,116

Applicant Project Amount $       In-Kind

BMX Australia BMX National Series   11,000  
Netball QLD QLD Cup Carnival 2017   10,000  
Beach Netball Pty Ltd 2017 Beach Netball Festival   10,000       3,279 
Baseball QLD Inc. 2018 Little League State Championships   10,000  
Baseball QLD Inc. 2017 Baseball State Titles     8,000  
Professional Golfers Association Australia 2017 PGA Cairns Classic     5,000  
Sports Marketing Australia Pty Limited 2017 Beach Netball Festival    2,200  
Sports Marketing Australia Pty Limited 2017 Baseball Qld U/16 Championships     2,200  
Sports Marketing Australia Pty Limited 2018 QLD Little League Baseball State Titles    2,200  
Sports Marketing Australia Pty Limited Netball Carnival         341 

Total Sports Tourism Marketing $60,600 $3,620

SPORTS TOURISM MARKETING GRANTS
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT STREAMS

Funding is available from Cairns Regional Council for the development and delivery of projects that will result in 
demonstrated economic benefit to the Cairns Region.

Applicant Project            Amount$    In-Kind 
Tourism Tropical North Queensland (TTNQ) Resource & Performance Agreement    3,000,000  
Advance Cairns Resource & Performance Agreement      125,000  
Study Cairns Inc.  Resource & Performance Agreement        32,000  
Babinda Information Centre Resource & Performance Agreement        12,000     2,031 
Ignite FNQ Innovation        10,000  
Babinda District Community Association Resource & Performance Agreement           7,500  

Total Economic Diversification Fund $3,186,500  $2,031

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY GRANT STREAMS

Community Sustainability Grants
The Community Sustainability Grant provides financial assistance to not-for-profit community groups and 
organisations to implement projects, events, community and educational programs which: save energy or 
water, reduce waste, promote active travel or sustainable food production, improve local biodiversity or build 
capacity for best practice in sustainability.

Applicant Amount $
Cairns Area Fish Stocking Group Inc Stocking fish into CRC waterways          10,000 
Cairns & Far North Environment Centre Mangrove Watch Cairns - Citizen Science Program            5,000 
Selectability  The Junction Clubhouse Solar Installation            5,000 
Holloways Beach Environmental Education Centre Sustainability Enrichment Program 2017-2018            5,000 
Holloways Beach Community Garden Inc Raised Garden Beds and soil            4,250 
Bramston Beach Ratepayers & Progress Assoc. Inc.  Melaleuca Creek Restoration Project            3,746 
Tangaroa Blue Foundation Last Straw on the Great Barrier Reef Campaign            3,000 
Gordonvale Men’s Shed Solar Project            2,500 
Babinda District Community Association Babinda Community Sustainability Workshops            2,000 
Yorkeys Knob State School P&C Association Compost bins, teaching tools & reticulation installation       2,000 
Bayview Heights Community Kindergarten Kindergarten Fruit & Vegetable Garden            1,000 

Total Community Sustainability Grant             $43,496
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Nature-based Learning Grant

The Nature-based Learning Grant stream provides financial assistance to eligible schools to deliver school 
excursions that connect children with nature in a way that results in a greater awareness and appreciation of 
sustainable living and the natural world. 

Applicant Amount $

McDonnell Creek State School Fitzroy Island Excursion            2,085 
Cairns School of Distance Education Environmental Education Centre & Wildlife Park Excursions            2,000 
Isabella State School Reef Excursion            2,000 
St Josephs School Reef Excursion            2,000 
Gordonvale State High School Seniors Reef Excursion            2,000 
Machans Beach State School Skyrail & Train Excursion            2,000 
Smithfield High School Excursion to Orpheus Island & JCU Daintree Research Station            1,500 
Gordonvale State School Year 2 Butterfly Sanctuary Excursion               855 
Bentley Park College Botanic Gardens & Rediscovery Centre               800 

Total Nature Based Learning Grant $15,240

RATES BASED FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
2017/18   Amount $

Not For Profit Community Groups 134 recipients 887,580
Not For Profit Sporting & Recreation Groups 81 recipients 413,429
Cairns Show Association 1 recipient 39,329

$1,340,338

SPONSORSHIPS
Applicant Description  Amount $
Cairns Basketball Inc.  2017-2018 Sponsorship        125,000 
Cairns Indigenous Arts Fair Art Award Sponsorship          10,000 
Cairns FC Annual Contribution          10,000 
Tourism Tropical North Queensland (TTNQ) Chairman’s Awards for Excellence            7,000 
Safe Work QLD Safe Work Breakfast Forum            5,000 
Cairns Convention Centre Cairns Biggest Sign On Day            5,000 
Cairns Chamber of Commerce Silver Sponsorship            3,182 
Chie Tezuka 1st Prize Cairns Festival Grant Parade            3,000 
Department of Education TNQ Training Awards Sponsorship            3,000 
Skill 360 Australia Skill 360 Australia Awards 2017 Platinum Sponsorship            2,500 
Cairns Tropical Pride Inc.  2nd Prize Cairns Festival Grant Parade            2,000 
Holy Cross School 3rd Prize Cairns Festival Grant Parade            2,000 
Royal Australian Institute of Architects Cairns Festival of Architecture            1,500 
HIA Limited HIA Awards & Industry Breakfast            1,355 
James Cook University Sponsorship               545 
Isabella State School Encouragement Award Cairns Festival Grant Parade               500 
FNQ Cerebral Palsy Support Group Encouragement Award Cairns Festival Grant Parade               500 
Kennedy Tom (Boigu Island Traditional Dancers) Encouragement Award Cairns Festival Grant Parade               500 
Cairns & District Junior Eisteddfod Association Group Trophies Sponsorship                 64 
Cairns Business Women’s Club CBWC Inspire Inform & Educate Conference (2,000) 

Total Sponsorships $180,645

DONATIONS
Applicant Description         Amount $
The Salvation Army  Red Shield Appeal            5,950 

Total Donations                5,950
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ASSESSMENT OF PROGRESS  
TOWARDS 5-YEAR CORPORATE PLAN
The annual report for a financial year must contain the Chief Executive Officer’s assessment of the local 
government’s progress towards implementing its 5-year corporate plan and annual operational plan.
On 26 June 2017 Council adopted the Corporate Plan 2017 – 2022.  This document provides strategic direction 
of all activities to be undertaken by Council over the next five (5) financial years. Based on this Corporate Plan, 
Council will ensure that key services and projects will be delivered in current and future financial years through 
the annual Operational Plans. Specifically, each Operational Plan activity is linked to the Corporate Plan’s 
strategic goals. A summary of the Corporate Plan 2017-2022 is shown below:

ECONOMY NATURAL
ASSETS

LIVEABILITY SERVING THE 
COMMUNITY 

COMMUNITY 
& CULTURE

WHAT WE WANT 
TO SEE IN 2022 
A strong, diversified and circular 
regional economy that supports 
the growth of new and existing 
industry and business activities 
whilst enhancing the local 
lifestyle and providing long term 
employment opportunities

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
•  Support a strong and diverse 

economy 

•  Continue to grow a strong 
Tourism industry and recognise
its value to the region 

• Grow and sustain employment 
and education opportunities 

• Deliver events, activities 
and performances that bring 
economic and social benefits 
to the community 

• Embrace a smart communities 
agenda  and inspire 
innovation through access to 
technology and resources 

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE 
• Diversify and Enhance the 

economy

• Employment growth and 
tourism numbers

• Attendance numbers and 
economic return on events 
across the region

• Economic policies for 
development & investment and 
other cohorts are established.

• Smart Communities initiatives 
developed 

WHAT WE WANT 
TO SEE IN 2022 
That our iconic natural 
assets are maintained, 
enhanced and connected.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Value and protect Cairns 

pristine natural environment  

• Make better use of our natural 
resources 

• Grow renewable energy 
sources 

• Maintain clean air, water and 
waste 

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Reduction of carbon 

emissions by council 
activities 

• Quality of our waterways 

• Council’s resource recovery rate 

• State of Environment Report 

CORPORATE PLAN

OUR STRATEGY
To promote an environment

which values and enhances our 
unique lifestyle, iconic natu-
ral assets, supports a sense 

of community and furthers our 
economic prosperity. 

OUR VISION
Value our natural environment, 

lifestyle and surroundings

Support and respect distinctive 
and vibrant communities

Be innovative and creative
grow and diversify our economy

OUR PURPOSE

To serve the 
community

OUR STRATEGIC GOALS

WHAT WE WANT 
TO SEE IN 2022 
A safe and secure city that is 
easy to live in and connected 
to the world

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Enhance wellbeing and safety 

in the community  

• Improve transport (provide 
sustainable transport 
options)

• Provide equal services, 
employment and education 
opportunities to everyone

• Maintain the region’s relaxed 
character 

• Ensure communities 
preparedness for disasters 
is enhanced by strong 
community education and 
awareness programs.

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Population growth 

• Number of ‘open data sets’ 
available to the community 

• Our Cairns Survey 2019

WHAT WE WANT 
TO SEE IN 2022 
A vibrant, inclusive and 
healthy community with 
access to services and facilities 
which reflect its unique 
character, roles and needs.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Support a rich and diverse 

culture through accessible 
public facilities and community 
initiatives. 

• Become the Arts Capital of 
Northern Australia 

• Build vibrancy through 
community  events and 
activities 

• Support social and community 
groups 

• Ensure culture, heritage and 
place are valued, shared and 
celebrated. 

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Increased attendance at 

council organised events 

• Community Strategies and 
Plans implemented 

• Community participation in 
engagement activities 

• Our Cairns survey 2019

WHAT WE WANT 
TO SEE IN 2022 
An efficient organisation 
providing best practices 
service delivery through 
leadership, effective 
management of people, 
assets and finances. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Deliver best value customer 

service to the community

• Encourage an organisational 
culture of continuous improve-
ment and business efficiencies 

• Collaborate and build working 
partnerships between 
community and government 
to plan and deliver better 
services.  

• Promote decision-making 
based on collaboration, 
transparent and accountable 
leadership

• Promote a safety culture of 
everyone home safe & well 
today and everyday

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Delivery of capital projects in 

line with key milestones and 
agreed cost targets 

• Balance Budget or Councils 
Sustainability Ratio?

• Rates Benchmarking 

• Our Cairns survey 2019

• Proportion of on-line customer 
interaction 

• Customer Satisfaction Index 

OUR PURPOSE:  To serve the community

ECONOMY NATURAL
ASSETS

LIVEABILITY SERVING THE 
COMMUNITY

COMMUNITY
& CULTURE

WHAT WE WANT
TO SEE IN 2022 
A strong, diversified and circular
regional economy that supports
the growth of new and existing
industry and business activities
whilst enhancing the local
lifestyle and providing long term
employment opportunities

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Support a strong and diverse

economy

• Continue to grow a strong
Tourism industry and recognise
its value to the region

• Grow and sustain employment
and education opportunities

• Deliver events, activities
and performances that bring 
economic and social benefits
to the community

• Embrace a smart communities
agenda  and inspire 
innovation through access to 
technology and resources

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE 
• Diversify and Enhance the 

economy

• Employment growth and 
tourism numbers

• Attendance numbers and 
economic return on events
across the region

• Economic policies for
development & investment and
other cohorts are established.

• Smart Communities initiatives
developed 

WHAT WE WANT
TO SEE IN 2022 
That our iconic natural 
assets are maintained, 
enhanced and connected.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Value and protect Cairns

pristine natural environment

• Make better use of our natural
resources

• Grow renewable energy
sources

• Maintain clean air, water and 
waste

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Reduction of carbon 

emissions by council 
activities

• Quality of our waterways

• Council’s resource recovery rate

• State of Environment Report

CORPORATE PLAN

OUR STRATEGY
To promote an environment

which values and enhances our 
unique lifestyle, iconic natu-
ral assets, supports a sense 

of community and furthers our 
economic prosperity. 

OUR VISION
Value our natural environment, 

lifestyle and surroundings

Support and respect distinctive 
and vibrant communities

Be innovative and creative
grow and diversify our economy

OUR PURPOSE

To serve the 
community

OUR STRATEGIC GOALS

WHAT WE WANT
TO SEE IN 2022 
A safe and secure city that is 
easy to live in and connected 
to the world

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Enhance wellbeing and safety

in the community

• Improve transport (provide 
sustainable transport
options)

• Provide equal services, 
employment and education 
opportunities to everyone

• Maintain the region’s relaxed 
character 

• Ensure communities
preparedness for disasters
is enhanced by strong 
community education and 
awareness programs.  

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Population growth 

• Number of ‘open data sets’ 
available to the community

• Our Cairns Survey 2019  

WHAT WE WANT
TO SEE IN 2022 
A vibrant, inclusive and 
healthy community with 
access to services and facilities
which reflect its unique
character, roles and needs.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Support a rich and diverse 

culture through accessible 
public facilities and community
initiatives. 

• Become the Arts Capital of
Northern Australia 

• Build vibrancy through 
community  events and 
activities

• Support social and community
groups

• Ensure culture, heritage and 
place are valued, shared and 
celebrated.

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Increased attendance at

council organised events

• Community Strategies and 
Plans implemented 

• Community participation in 
engagement activities

• Our Cairns survey 2019

WHAT WE WANT
TO SEE IN 2022 
An efficient organisation 
providing best practices 
service delivery through 
leadership, effective 
management of people, 
assets and finances. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Over the next 5 years our 
strategic objectives are; 
• Deliver best value customer 

service to the community

• Encourage an organisational
culture of continuous improve-
ment and business efficiencies

• Collaborate and build working 
partnerships between 
community and government
to plan and deliver better 
services.  

• Promote decision-making 
based on collaboration, 
transparent and accountable 
leadership

• Promote a safety culture of
everyone home safe & well
today and everyday

HOW WE WILL MEASURE 
OUR PERFORMANCE
• Delivery of capital projects in 

line with key milestones and 
agreed cost targets

• Balance Budget or Councils
Sustainability Ratio?

• Rates Benchmarking 

• Our Cairns survey 2019

• Proportion of on-line customer 
interaction 

• Customer Satisfaction Index
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OUTCOMES

Funding for Tourism – Renewal of Council’s Resource and 
Performance Funding Agreement with Tourism Tropical North 
Queensland (TTNQ) committing $3 million per annum in funding to 
TTNQ over the three years ending 30 June 2020.

Investment Attraction – Update of the Cairns Investment 
Prospectus and appropriate support, assistance and advice provided 
to numerous business proponents and investors.  Hosting inbound 
business and investment delegations and leading/participating 
in outbound international business delegations aimed at securing 
regional investment and trade.

Economic Development Strategy – Preparation and adoption of 
Council’s Economic Development Strategy 2018-2022 which outlines 
the 10 key actions Council will focus on in support of its Economy 
strategic objective.

Shared Vision Development – Commenced the development 
of a shared vision for Cairns in conjunction with key external 
stakeholders.  The vision will be used as a basis for advocating 
to State and Federal Governments for the policy and investment 
required to support the region’s long term prosperity and liveability.  
The vision will also be used as a foundation to seek a City Deal for 
Cairns.

Industry Support  - Provision of financial support to the super yacht 
and international education industry sectors via Council’s Resource 
and Performance Funding Agreements with Super Yacht Group Great 
Barrier Reef Inc and Study Cairns Inc.

Babinda and Gordonvale Economic Development Plans - Delivery of 
numerous initiatives contained in Council’s Economic Development 
Plans for these specific geographic regions.

Grant Application Capability – Comprehensive review of Council’s 
approach to contestable grant applications undertaken with 
recommended improvements identified and implemented.  

A strong, diversified and resilient 
regional economy that supports the 
growth of new and existing industry, 
business activities and provides long 
term employment opportunities

ECONOMY

The operational Plan for 2017/18 was based on the Corporate Plan 2017 – 2022 which was adopted 
by Council on 26 June 2017. The Chief Executive Officer’s assessment of Council’s progress in 2017/18 
towards implementing the 5 year Corporate Plan and annual Operational Plan is shown below.

 01    Economic Development Strategy 2018-2022

ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY
2018-2022
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NATURAL 
ASSETS
That our iconic natural assets are  
maintained, enhanced and connected.  

OUTCOMES 

Waste Reduction and Recycling Strategy 2018-2027 – 
Preparation and adoption of the strategy which sets out how the 
waste and resource recovery needs of the Cairns region will be met 
over the next 10 years and provides a strategic direction for moving 
Cairns towards a future in which landfills are the last option.

Wet Tropics Healthy Waterways Partnership (WTHWP) – 
Partnership activities and initiatives ongoing and WTHWP report card 
on the health of the region’s waterways presented in April 2018.

Illegal Dumping Campaign – Development and implementation 
of a community awareness and educational campaign aimed at 
addressing illegal dumping within the Cairns region.

Biosecurity Plan Development and adoption of the Cairns Regional 
Council Biosecurity Plan in April 2018.

Water Security – Continued implementation of Council’s Water 
Security Strategy and the recommendations of Council’s Water 
Security Advisory Group.

Energy Management Plan – Continued implementation of the 
initiatives in the plan including installation of solar panel systems 
on 12 Council sites/facilities.

CO2 Emissions – Implementation of various initiatives to ensure 
Council’s commitment to a 50% reduction in CO2 emissions by 2020 
is achieved.  Council’s State of the Environment report for 2017/2018 
confirms Council is on track to achieve this objective
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OUTCOMES 

CCTV Strategy – Continued rollout of CCTV cameras and facilities in 
high priority areas.  Expression of Interest released to re-evaluate 
service model of current and future City Safe networked cameras and 
other systems in preparation for tender to market suppliers.

Walking/Cycling Strategy – Delivery of approximately seven 
kilometres of additional walking paths/cycleway in accordance with 
the strategy.

Natural Disaster Resilience – Launch of the Cairns Disaster 
Dashboard, an interactive awareness tool that provides information 
to residents in disaster situations.

City Centre Master Plan – Stage one masterplan consultation 
undertaken focusing on three project ideas: A renewed Esplanade 
Parklands; Esplanade Dining Precinct; and Gallery Precinct.

Wangetti Trail – Providing input and assistance to the Queensland 
State Government in support of this proposed iconic walking/cycling 
trail which will link Palm Cove and Port Douglas.

Future Transport Options – Completion of a transport options study 
looking at the potential future public transport solutions for the 
Cairns region.

LIVABILITY
A safe and secure city that is easy to live in 
and connected to the world. 
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OUTCOMES

Strategy for Culture and the Arts – Preparation and adoption of Cairns 
Regional Council’s Strategy for Culture and the Arts 2022.  The strategy 
provides a framework for Council to prioritise, coordinate and manage 
the city’s resources, and deliver ongoing programming and provision of 
grants and infrastructure that will stimulate and sustain the cultural and 
creative vitality of the region.

Cairns Gallery Precinct – Further concept design, economic impact 
assessment and project cost analysis undertaken in respect of this 
concept which aims to connect three heritage listed buildings in the 
Cairns City Centre to create a world class Gallery Precinct.  Applications 
for project capital funding have been lodged with both the Queensland 
and Federal Governments and are being actively progressed.

Cairns Performing Arts Centre – Construction of the new Cairns 
Performing Arts Centre with significant progress made during 2017-2018.

Commonwealth Games 2018/Festival 2018 – Hosting the Queen’s 
Baton Relay and selected Basketball matches as part of the 
Commonwealth Games 2018 program of events.  Delivery of Festival 
2018, a suite of musical and cultural activities coinciding with the 
Commonwealth Games 2018.

Events Strategy – Support for the delivery of major events including 
Elton John’s Cairns Concert, NRL and AFL Premiership matches in Cairns, 
the Mountain Bike World Championships, Rugby League World Cup Pool 
matches and the Cairns Airport Adventure Festival (Ironman Asia Pacific).

A vibrant, inclusive and healthy 
community with access to services 
and facilities which reflect its unique 
character, roles and needs. 

COMMUNITY
& CULTURE

CAIRNS
GALLERY

PRECINCT

CONNECTING OUR PAST WITH OUR PRESENT THROUGH ART & CULTURE
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An efficient organisation providing best 
practices service delivery through 
leadership, effective management of  
people, assets and finances.   

SERVICING
THE  
COMMUNITY

OTHER ISSUES RELEVANT TO OPERATIONS & PERFORMANCE
The annual report for a financial year must contain other issues relevant to operations and performance. Council is not aware of 
any other issues relevant to making an informed assessment of its operations and performance in the 2017/2018 financial year.

OUTCOMES

Fiscal Responsibility and Stability – Delivered a modest operating surplus 
for 2017/2018 in line with budget expectations.  Balanced operating budget for 
2018/19 adopted on 25 June 2018 incorporating a 1.7% rate rise in line with CPI.

Capital Works Program – Delivery of $157M in capital works across a variety of 
Council operations.

Safety – Delivery of SafetyCircle training across the whole of Council in 2017-
2018.  SafetyCircle is workplace culture change program aimed at ensuring 
every employee makes it home safe and well every day.

Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA) –The Single Bargaining Unit (SBU) 
comprising Council management and nine unions has been negotiating in good 
faith since 13 June 2017. An agreement on a new EBA is yet to be reached.

Customer Satisfaction – Customer satisfaction remains a high priority for 
Council.  Council has performed well in this regard, achieving an external 
customer satisfaction index of 81%.

External Marketing and Communication Strategy – Preparation and adoption 
of the strategy which focuses on ensuring clear and effective communication 
with the community and other stakeholders
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CAIRNS WORKS
Cairns Works (CW) is a commercialised business 
unit of Cairns Regional Council (CRC). Section 190 of 
the Local Government Regulation 2012 states that a 
local government’s annual report for a financial year 
must include an annual operations report for each 
commercial business unit. 

The annual operations report contains the following 
information for the previous financial year:
(a) Information that allows an informed assessment 

of the unit’s operations, including a comparison 
with the unit’s annual performance plan;

(b) Particulars of any changes made to the unit’s 
annual performance plan for the previous financial 
year;

(c) Particulars of the impact the changes had on the 
unit’s –

i. Financial position; and
ii. Operating surplus or deficit; and
iii. Prospects;

(d) Particulars of directions the local government 
gave the unit.

UNIT’S OBJECTIVES
CW’s mission is to safely construct civil engineering 
projects for Cairns Regional Council and external 
clients that are on time, within budget and to 
specification.

The high level objectives of the CW business unit are:
• Deliver capital works construction projects

including transport and drainage infrastructure,
and other civil works.

• Undertake construction work for external clients
including the Queensland Department of Transport
and Main Roads.

NATURE AND EXTENT OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY
CW provides civil engineering construction services 
to Cairns Regional Council in the areas of:
• Transport,
• Drainage,
• Parks and foreshores.

Major projects undertaken during the year include:
• Walker Road Stage 1B
• Logomeir Road Stage 2
• O’Brien Road Upgrade
• Babinda Boulders Upgrade
• Cook Street Pavement Rehabilitation
• CBD Parking Improvements
• CBD Footpath Replacement
• Barnes Street Culvert Upgrade
• Mt Peter Road Culvert Replacement
• Suburban Enhancement Program
• Annual road improvement works (asphalt, reseal,

kerb renewal and rehabilitation)
• Annual drainage infrastructure renewal and

improvement projects

The department also engages in the provision of 
civil projects to external customers including State 
agencies and the private sector. Major projects 
undertaken during the year include:
• Department of Transport and Main Roads – Asphalt

Surfacing on the intersection of Foster Road and
Bruce Highway

UNIT’S FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE TARGETS
Financial Performance Targets:
Section 175 (3) of the Local Government Regulation 
2012 states that:
(3)  A local government may omit information from 

the copies of the annual performance plan 
made available to the public if— 

(a) the information is of a commercially sensitive 
nature to the commercial business unit

(b) the information is given to each of the local 
government’s councillors.

Financial performance targets are commercially 
sensitive to the business unit; hence they are not 
presented in this annual operations report but have 
been provided to Council separately.

ANNUAL OPERATIONS FOR EACH 
COMMERCIAL BUSINESS UNIT
The annual report for a financial year must contain information about 
the annual operations for each commercial business unit.
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NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS:
The following are CW’s key non-financial performance 

targets:
• Completion of construction projects on time and

within budget.
- The majority of CW’s projects were delivered on time 

and within budget.

• Minimum 80% completion rate for Monthly Circle
Meetings

- 85% completion rate achieved

• Minimum 80% completion rate for Workplace
Health and Safety – Rectification Action Plans for
low to medium risk items and minimum 100%
completion rate for high risk items.

- 100% completion rate achieved.

CHANGES TO THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE PLAN
No significant changes were made to the CW Annual 
Performance Plan in the previous financial year.

DIRECTIONS THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT  
GAVE THE UNIT
Council provides ongoing directions to the CW 
business unit regarding the scope and timing of 
construction works to be delivered. The result of those 
directions includes the major projects listed above.

CAIRNS WORKS FINANCIAL INDICATORS
Cairns Works actual income was received from the 
following sources:

Cairns Works actual income was received 100% from 
Internal Revenue sources.

Cairns Works actual expenditure was allocated as shown 
below:

Internal Charges 32.55% 

Material & Services 25.35%

C A I R N S  W O R K S  E X P E N D I T U R E

Employee Costs 32.41%

OPERATING REVENUE
Miscellaneous revenue   1,281   1,395
Internal revenue   18,946   16,769
Total Operating Revenue   20,227   18,164

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Employee benefits   19,310   18,455
Materials and services   40,278   36,881
Total Expenses   59,588   55,336

OPERATING CAPABILITIES BEFORE CAPITAL ITEMS ( 39,361) ( 37,172)
Capital Items 
Contributions  -   - 
Other capital contributions  -   - 
Subsidies and Grants  -   - 
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY BEFORE TAX ( 39,361) ( 37,172)

Income tax benefit/(expense)  -   - 
Dividend income/(expense)  -   - 

( 39,361) ( 37,172)
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY 
AFTER INCOME TAX ( 39,361) ( 37,172)

2017/2018
ACTUAL
$OOO

2017/2018
BUDGET
$OOO

CAIRNS WORKS  OPERATING STATEMENT

Competitive Neutrality 9.69%
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CAIRNS WATER & WASTE 

Overview
Cairns Water and Cairns Resource Recovery (hereafter 

referred to as Water and Waste) are commercialised 
business units of Cairns Regional Council with a 
charter for: 

• Supplying safe, reliable drinking water to consumers
• Collection and treatment of domestic wastewater,

commercial and industrial trade waste
• Collection, recycling and disposal of municipal solid

waste
• Planning for and delivering water, wastewater and

waste infrastructure
• Maintenance of the community’s water, wastewater

and waste infrastructure
• Environmental management of water, wastewater

and waste infrastructure and facilities

For reporting purposes under National Competition 
Policy, Water and Waste is classed as providing two 
significant business activities, these being water and 
wastewater (collectively) and waste services.  Both 
the Water and Waste businesses are considered 
a significant business activity under the Local 
Government Act 2009.  Accordingly, these businesses 
have been commercialised under this legislation and 
report to Council as such.  

In early 2016, Water and Waste developed a clear 
strategic direction and has committed to the Vision 
to be the lead water and waste service provider in 
a tropical environment.  Water and Waste will be 
the industry and community leader by building 
relationships and capability, having the right people 
and the right culture and using efficient processes to 
deliver effective results to the community. 

For a breakdown of financial operations and dividend 
return to Council please see the attached Annual 
Statement of Operations and the corresponding 
Financial Statements.

WATER SUPPLY 
Water and Waste operates 10 water supply schemes.  
The main water sources are the Copperlode Falls 
Dam and Behana Creek which supply the area 
from Gordonvale to Palm Cove.  The small southern 
communities draw water from a number of intakes on 
local streams.

Principal assets* include:

Major Water Sources   Copperlode Falls Dam (Lake Morris)
Behana Creek (Intake)

Major Treatment Plant Freshwater Creek Water  
Treatment Plant at Tunnel Hill

Minor Intakes Nine (9) minor (rural) intakes

Kilometres of Mains 2,172.8 kilometres
* From 2016/17 SWIM Data

Major Capital Works projects undertaken within 
the water supply system in 2017/18 were:
• Construction of water main in Northern
   Beaches - Western Bypass to Shale St $1.4M
• Hall Road, Redbank Road and Dexter Road
   Gordonvale replacement of water mains $1.3M
• Water main replacement program $1.3M
• Construction of new water laboratory $1.1M

Wastewater Operations 
Water and Waste manages six wastewater schemes.  
The distinct catchment areas within Cairns are 
serviced by six plants as follows: Marlin Coast, 
Northern, Southern, Edmonton, Gordonvale and 
Babinda.  The wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) 
are a combination of activated sludge and biological 
treatment processes, with the two larger plants 
also having membrane filtration processes. The 
smaller plants treat effluent to a secondary standard, 
while the larger plants treat to tertiary standards.  
The management of the systems is covered by a 
Development Approval issued by the Department of 
Energy and Water Supply.  

Principal assets* include:

Major Treatment Plants  6
Sewage Pumping Stations 179
Kilometres of Mains 1,261.7 kilometres
* 2016/17 SWIM Data

Major Capital Work projects undertaken within the 
wastewater system in 2017/2018 were: 
• Upgrade of rising main at Sewer Pump Station T1 $4.9M
• Upgrade of Edmonton Wastewater Treatment Plant 

clarifier $3.7M
• Mount Peter Planning Study and interim

infrastructure assessment $2.6M
• Northern and Southern WWTPs LEAP membrane

upgrades $1.4M
• Upgrade of pressure main at Sewer Pump Station

TB1 $1.4M
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WASTE (RESOURCE RECOVERY)
Water and Waste manages a range of solid waste 
operations, activities and services across the region. 
These include kerbside waste and recycling collection 
contracts, a regional waste management contract for the 
treatment and disposal of wastes through an Advanced 
Resource Recovery Facility, a material recovery facility, 
transfer stations, a buy back shop for the resale of 
recovered materials and the environmental monitoring 
of Council’s closed landfills. The business focus is on 
waste minimisation and resource recovery primarily 
driven through the Waste Management Strategy. 

Principal assets include:
Materials Recovery Facility Portsmith
Waste Transfer Stations  Babinda

Gordonvale
Portsmith
Smithfield
Bramston Beach

Buy Back Shop Portsmith
Closed Landfills Portsmith

Babinda
Gordonvale
White Rock
Machans Beach
Yorkeys Knob

Waste Treatment and Disposal Contractual 
arrangement with a commercial entity SUEZ 
Environment to accept, treat and dispose of Council 
waste at an Advanced Resource Recovery Facility

No major capital works were undertaken within Waste 
Services in 2017-2018.

ANNUAL STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Water and Waste’s 2017-2018 Annual Performance 
Plan (the Plan) is the agreement with Cairns Regional 
Council to deliver water, wastewater and solid waste 
services.  The Plan describes Water and Waste’s scope 
of activities, responsibilities, service to customers, 
the environment, asset management and its financial 
policies.  

In all undertakings Water and Waste strives to 
achieve service provision to the Cairns community in 
a manner which maximises both Cairns Regional 
Council and community ideals. This is achieved 
through economic, social and environmental 
objectives being assessed in all stages of Water and 
Waste operations from long term planning through to 
operational delivery.

The Water Supply (Safety and Reliability) Act 2008 
s.115, requires water service providers to prepare and 
publish Customer Service Standards (CSS).  These 
ensure customers who do not have a contract with the 
service provider for the supply of registered services (a 
service contract) are protected by standards relating to 
the supply. 

AMENDMENTS TO ANNUAL PERFORMANCE PLAN
There were no structural amendments to the Plan.

KEY DELIVERABLES
The Plan meets the requirements for the two 
commercial business units of Council being:
• Water and Wastewater
• Waste Services (Cairns Resource Recovery)

Operationally, the units are managed as a single entity, 
Water and Waste. Water and Waste is responsible 
for the provision of water and wastewater services 
to consumers throughout the Cairns Region and the 
provision of municipal solid waste services to the 
community, including the following:
• Impounding, harvesting and treatment of raw water
• Reticulated treated water services
• Reticulated wastewater collection services including

wastewater treatment and by-product disposal
• Treated effluent and biosolids for re-use purposes 
• Planning, design, documentation and construction of 

water, wastewater and waste services infrastructure
• Collection, treatment and disposal and/or recycling

of municipal solid wastes
• Trade waste services
• Review of plumbing applications, plumbing

approvals
• Community education programs 

Water and Waste also provides the following services:
• Water demand management services, including

meter testing
• Hydraulic information to allow design of water

network infrastructure
• As-constructed information for water & wastewater
• Installation of new water supply & wastewater

services
• Miscellaneous maintenance services for water &

wastewater
• Recreational facilities at Copperlode Falls Dam
• NATA Accredited Services at Council’s Water

laboratory
• Buy Back Shop
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COMMUNITY SERVICE OBLIGATION

A Community Service Obligation arises when a government specifically requires a public enterprise to carry 
out activities relating to outputs or inputs which it would not elect to do on a commercial basis, and which 
the government does not require other businesses in the public or private sectors to generally undertake. 

Type 1 Activities OPERATING REVENUE

Water

Service Locations 187,687

Fire Hydrants Maintenance 508,346

Access Charges foregone 442,359

Water Charges foregone 1,713,627

Total 2,852,019

Wastewater

Service Locations 53,423

Access Charges foregone 1,051,908

Total 1,105,331

Solid Waste Management

Free dumping general waste 416,147

Free disposal vouchers 10,640

Free dumping vegetation 288,738

Free mulch 106,834

Free transportation costs between transfer stations 76,058

Rates based financial assistance 46,896

Schools recycling 26,150

In kind waste and recycling collections 8,908

Total 980,371
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS – WATER AND WASTEWATER

SERVICE INDICATORS – 
WATER AND WASTEWATER SERVICES
Water and Waste reports on the 
following service indicators as part of a 
benchmarking exercise.  Listed below 
are some of the indicators reported on a 
monthly basis to Council.

Sewerage Rates 53.7%  

Water Access 16.7%   

W A T E R  &  W A S T E  R E V E N U E

Water Useage 20.8%

Other Revenue 5.7%

CSO 3.1%

W A T E R  &  W A S T E  E X P E N D I T U R E

Employee Costs 27.1%

Materials & Services 20.7% 

Internal Net Charges 11.3%

Depreciation 40.9%

Other Expenses 0.0%

17/18 FINANCIAL YEAR- TOTAL WATER & SEWERAGE COMPLAINTS 

17/18 FINANCIAL YEAR-DRINKING WATER QUALITY COMPLAINTS 

The total number of complaints decreased in 2017-2018 compared to 2016-2017 by 31%, when 
there were significant works undertaken and complaints increased during these events.

17/18 FINANCIAL YEAR-WATER MAIN BREAKS AND LEAKS

Water main breaks and leaks increased in 2017-2018 compared to previous 
years. All months except for July, August and September exceeded the maximum 
limit of 32 breaks. The majority of breaks were due to corrosion and age of the 
asset, a small number of breaks were caused by either; external contractors, 
driven by wet weather, or a result of tree root intrusion. 

Complaints for the 2017-2018 financial year repeated those from 
2016-2017, both years receiving 2 complaints. The two complaints 
during 2017-2018 related to the same issue.  This is a significant 
improvement from 2015-2016, during which time 13 complaints 
were received.
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS – WASTE SERVICES

Cleansing Rates  79.6%   

Fees and Charges 7.9%

C A I R N S  W A S T E  R E V E N U E

Interest 0.8%   

Other Revenue 8.7%     

CSO 3.0%

C A I R N S  W A S T E  E X P E N D I T U R E

Employee Costs 16.0%       

Materials & Services 75.8% 

Internal Charges 4.5% 

Depreciation 2.8%Other 

Expenses 0.9%

A detailed breakdown of all revenue and expenses associated with Water and Waste activities 
can be found in the Financial Statements.  

SERVICE INDICATORS – WASTE SERVICES 

17/18 FINANCIAL YEAR- MISSED WASTE & RECYCLING 
SERVICES PER 5000 SERVICES 

17/18 FINANCIAL YEAR- RESPONSE TIME TO MISSED SERVICES

Missed services in 2017-2018 averaged 3.67 per 5,000 services completed 
compared to 1.88 in 2016-2017. This is below the target of 5 per 5,000 from 
June to November. In December a new contractor was engaged and the 
target amended to 1 (from 5) and this resulted in values being exceeded 
from December to February. 

Values were significantly high in December, with 23.59 missed services, 
which was a direct consequence of challenges arising with a change of 
contractor.

Missed service response by the two contractors averaged 94% for the 2017-2018 
financial year reporting period. This was below the target of 100%, above the 
trigger value of 93% and a 3% decrease in average compared to 2016-2017. This 
reduced performance is almost entirely due to the December to March period and 
the change-over in contractors, improvements were seen from April.
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CAPITAL WORKS
Capital Works delivered by Water 
and Waste for Water, Wastewater 
and Waste Management totalled 
$36.94 million. This expenditure 
was 98% of the budgeted amount 
of $37.86 million.

$25m -

$20m -

$15m -

$10m -

$5m -

    $0  -
WASTEWATER WATER WASTE

BUDGET
ACTUAL

ACTUAL
BUDGET

BUDGET ACTUAL

A great deal of effort went into preplanning and 
resource allocation of projects was undertaken 
prior to the start of the year. This translated into 
an exceptional result where the department were 
able to, for the first time, practically deliver its 
allocated capital budget across 126 approved 
water, wastewater and waste projects.

OPERATING REVENUE
Net Rates and Utility Charges   117,673    118,033 
Fees and Charges   5,181    4,623 
Interest   1,096    995 
Miscellaneous Revenue   1,110    787 
Total Operating Revenue   125,059    124,437 

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Employee Benefits   22,680    22,008 
Materials and Services   22,552    21,214 
Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses   34,234    33,907 
Finance Costs   202    123 
Total Expenses   79,668    77,251 

OPERATING CAPABILITIES BEFORE CAPITAL ITEMS & INCOME TAX   45,392    47,186 

CAPITAL ITEMS 
Gain / (Loss) on disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment ( 3,362) ( 2,830)
Contributed Assets   7,343    8,869 
Other Capital Contributions   2,077    4,123 
Subsidies and Grants   1,785   - 
Total Capital Items   7,842    10,162 

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY BEFORE TAX   53,234    57,348 

Income Tax Benefit / (Expense) ( 12,807) ( 15,881)
Dividend Income / (Expense) ( 31,007) ( 24,063)

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY AFTER INCOME TAX   9,420    17,404

2017/2018
ACTUAL
$OOO

2017/2018
BUDGET
$OOO

CAIRNS WATER OPERATING STATEMENT



2017-2018  ANNUAL REPORT  049 CAIRNS REGIONAL COUNCIL  

2017/2018
ACTUAL
$OOO

2017/2018
BUDGET
$OOO

CAIRNS WASTE OPERATING STATEMENT

OPERATING REVENUE
Net Rates and Utility Charges   26,326    26,321 
Fees and Charges   2,616    2,766 
Interest   274    248 
Miscellaneous Revenue   2,860    2,758 
Total Operating Revenue   32,075    32,093 

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Employee Benefits   4,130    3,564 
Materials and Services   20,024    20,370 
Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses   727    730 
Finance Costs  -   - 
Total Expenses   24,880    24,664 

OPERATING CAPABILITIES BEFORE CAPITAL ITEMS & INCOME TAX   7,195    7,429 

CAPITAL ITEMS
Gain / (Loss) on disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment ( 255)  - 
Contributions  -   - 
Contributed Assets  -   - 
Other Capital Contributions  -   - 
Subsidies and Grants  -   - 
Total Capital Items ( 255)  - 

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY BEFORE TAX   6,940    7,429 

Income Tax Benefit / (Expense) ( 2,232) ( 2,184)
Dividend Income / (Expense) ( 4,708) ( 5,097)

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY AFTER INCOME TAX ( 0)   147
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SPECIAL RATES 
OR CHARGES
During the 2017-2018 Financial Year Cairns Regional 
Council did not enter into any agreement with any other 
local government to conduct any joint government 
activity or levy any special rates or charges. 

INVITATIONS TO 
CHANGE TENDERS
There were no instances during the 2017-2018 
financial year where tenderers who had submitted a 
tender to Council were invited to change their 
tenders.

REGISTERS
The annual report for a financial year must contain the 
list of registers kept by the local government.
The following registers are held by Council:
• Asbestos Register
• Asset Register
• Conflict of Interest / Material Personal Interest 

Declaration Register
• Corporate Risk Register
• Council’s Local Laws Register
• Embargo Register
• Environmentally Relevant Activity Register
• Fleet Disposal Register
• Local Heritage Register
• Legal Matter Register
• Matman Equipment Register
• Mayor Discretionary Fund Register
• Resident Evacuation & Recovery Register
• Register of Benefits (including Gifts)
• Register of Code of Conduct Matters
• Register of Cost Recovery Fees
• Register of Council Meeting Minutes
• Register of Delegations (including financial)
• Registers of each of Council’s approved procurement 

arrangements, Approved Contractor lists, Register
of Pre-Qualified Suppliers, and Preferred Supplier
Arrangements

• Register of Election Gifts and Benefits
• Register of Interests Chief Executive Officer
• Register of Interests Councillors
• Register of Interests Senior Contract Employees
• Register of tree removal and replacement projects
• Road Register
• Vegetation Protection Local Law Register
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REBATES AND CONCESSIONS

1  Council Pensioner Remission
a) A rebate of 40 per cent of the General Rate up to
a maximum of $1,350 per annum was granted to all 
pensioners whose applications met the eligibility 
criteria set down in Council’s Pensioner Policy and were 
also submitted within the required time frames.

b) The upper limit of total remission did not exceed 5
per cent of Council’s total net general rates, therefore 
the 40 per cent remission was not required to be 
reduced on a pro rata basis in line with policy. 

2. Retirement Village Remission
a) A remission was extended to retirement villages 
(as classified under Land Use Code 21), where a legal 
entity separate to the residents was the owner and the 
pensioners were responsible for paying the rates, to 
the extent that residents of the village were pensioners.

b) A remission was then applied based on the number
of dwellings occupied by pensioners as a percentage of 
the total number of dwellings in the village.  

3. Rates Based Financial Assistance
This policy allows Council to consider applications 
for remission of general rates, water access charges 
and sewerage charges from not for profit recreation, 
sporting and community groups.

To qualify for assistance, the constitution of the 
organisations must clearly state prohibitions on 
any member of the organisation making a private 
profit or gain, either from ongoing operations of the 
organisation or as a result of distribution of assets if 
the organisation is wound up.

4. Independent Rate Relief Tribunal
This policy has been adopted to provide a safety net for 
those ratepayers suffering genuine financial hardship.
The Tribunal is made up of a mixture of independent 
voluntary appointees selected by Council and two 
Councillors.

The main role of the Tribunal is to recommend, in 
certain circumstances, the most appropriate form of 
assistance to those ratepayers experiencing serious 
hardship and, as a result, are unable to pay their rates 
and charges. The policy only applies to the principal 
place of residence of the ratepayer and no commercial 
benefit can be derived from the property. Additionally, 
not for profit recreation, sporting and community 
groups that are already receiving rates based financial 
assistance, or would be eligible if they did not have 
rates outstanding, may also apply.

5. Health
Financial assistance is available to offset water usage 
costs for users of Home Dialysis Equipment. Written 
applications must be submitted to Cairns Regional 
Council for approval.

6. Concealed Leaks
Financial assistance is available to offset larger than 
normal water accounts due to existence of a concealed 
leak for residential and non-profit community 
organisations.  Written applications must be submitted 
to Cairns Regional Council for approval.

CONCESSIONS FOR RATES AND CHARGES
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The annual report for a financial year must contain a 
report on the internal audit for the financial year.
Council’s Internal Audit function provides independent, 
objective assurance activities in accordance with an 
approved strategic, risk-based internal audit plan.  The 
role, scope and purpose of the Internal Audit function is 
understood and supported by the organisation.  

The Internal Audit function works collaboratively 
with management to implement recommended 
improvements to systems, processes, work practices, 
compliance and business effectiveness.
The Internal Audit activities are performed by an 
appropriately qualified internal audit consultant on a 
wholly outsourced basis.  For the year ended 30 June 
2018, Council’s outsourced internal audit consultant 
was Pacifica Chartered Accountants.  The independence 
and objectivity of the consultant is continuously 
monitored by the General Manager Human Resources 
and Organisational Change as the Internal Audit 
Sponsor.

The Internal Audit Plan is reviewed annually by 
management and the Audit Committee to ensure it 
remains relevant to the organisation’s needs and the 
key underpinning document is the Corporate Risk 
Register.  Council’s 2017-2018 Internal Audit Plan 
covered all Departments and included reviews of 
Materials Recovery Facility, Sponsorship, grants and 
Council In-Kind support, Water Management Practices, 
Revenue Assurance Licencing and Registrations and 
Procurement Exceptions – Use of Panels. 

SUMMARY OF INVESTIGATION NOTICES 
The annual report for a financial year must contain a 
summary of investigation notices given in the 
financial year under s.49 for competitive neutrality 
complaints and any responses made by the Local 
Government in response to the Queensland 
Productivity Commission’s recommendations on any 
competitive neutrality complaints.

During the 2017-2018 financial year Council was not 
in receipt of any Queensland Productivity Commission 
notices of investigation under section 49. 
During the same period Council was not in receipt of 
any Queensland Productivity Commission 
recommendations on any competitive neutrality 
complaints under section 52(3). 

BENEFICIAL ENTERPRISES
Cairns Regional Council does not have any beneficial 
enterprises.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
The annual report of a local government must state 
the total of all remuneration packages that are payable 
(in the year to which the annual report relates) to the 
senior management of the local government; and the 
number of employees in senior management who are 
being paid each band of remuneration.

The following table shows the range of total 
remuneration packages for the 12 month period from  
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 provided to Council’s 
senior contract employees. 

Package Range      Number of senior contract  
employees within package range

$200,000 to $299,999    6

$300,000 to $399,999     1

INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT

The total remuneration packages payable in 2017-18 
to senior management = $2,124,102
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Cairns Regional Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017

Note $ $

Income
Recurrent revenue

Rates, levies and charges 3(a) 252,260,434      247,117,580     
Fees and charges 20,804,652        19,210,807       
Interest revenue 2,800,440          3,488,181         
Other recurrent revenue 3(b) 9,579,852          10,094,537       
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 9,674,216          9,993,838         

295,119,594      289,904,943     
Capital revenue

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 4 70,913,222        51,073,035       
Total revenue 366,032,816      340,977,978     

Total income 2(b) 366,032,816      340,977,978     

Expenses
Recurrent expenses

Employee benefits 5 (95,365,800)      (95,569,634)      
Materials and services 6 (103,944,646)    (98,961,738)      
Finance costs (2,923,962)        (2,666,277)        
Depreciation and amortisation (91,090,841)      (86,287,419)      

(293,325,249)    (283,485,068)    

Capital expenses
Capital expenses 7 (37,623,510)      (25,417,908)      

(37,623,510)      (25,417,908)      

Total expenses 2(b) (330,948,759)    (308,902,976)    

Net result 35,084,057        32,075,002       

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Increase in asset revaluation surplus 58,449,189        14,113,194       
Total other comprehensive income for the year 58,449,189        14,113,194       

Total comprehensive income for the year 93,533,246        46,188,196       

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.

1



Cairns Regional Council

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2018

2018 2017

Note $ $

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 18,402,274        12,920,470        
Trade and other receivables 9(a) 37,648,626        36,563,088        
Inventories 2,237,401          2,222,055          

58,288,301        51,705,613        
Non-current assets held for sale 10 534,105             -                  

Total current assets 58,822,406        51,705,613        

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11(b) 3,905,242,121   3,800,134,133   
Intangible assets 3,885,642          5,069,951          

Total non-current assets 3,909,127,763   3,805,204,084   

Total assets 3,967,950,169   3,856,909,697   

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 45,716,760        52,521,292        
Provisions 13 4,079,219          6,588,731          
Borrowings 14 11,880,019        8,876,462          
Other 164,616             751,657             

Total current liabilities 61,840,614        68,738,142        

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 13 21,153,077        16,953,135        
Borrowings 14 98,838,037        78,633,225        

Total non-current liabilities 119,991,114      95,586,360        

Total liabilities 181,831,728      164,324,502      

Net community assets 3,786,118,441   3,692,585,195   

Community equity
Asset revaluation surplus 1,180,984,154   1,122,534,965   
Retained surplus 2,605,134,287   2,570,050,230   

Total community equity 3,786,118,441   3,692,585,195   

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.

2



Cairns Regional Council

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

General rates and utility charges 251,152,227      246,182,091    
Rental and levies, fees and charges 20,271,188        19,122,310      
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions 9,537,120          9,938,122        
Interest received 2,800,440          3,832,419        
Other revenue 9,638,666          10,729,545      

Payments
Payments to suppliers (114,482,566)    (86,703,897)     
Payments to employees (94,601,215)      (94,709,122)     
Interest expense (1,694,104)        (1,624,298)       

Net cash inflow from operating activities 20 82,621,756        106,767,170    

Cash flows from investing activities
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations for capital acquisitions:

Capital contributions 12,587,844        7,683,790        
Government subsidies and grants 41,331,266        21,339,677      

Payments for property, plant and equipment (155,640,352)    (171,658,416)   
Payments for intangible assets (261,949)           (524,653)          
Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 1,634,870          1,140,844        
Net movement in short term deposits -                  30,500,000      

Net cash outflow from investing activities (100,348,321)    (111,518,758)   

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 32,000,000        -                 
Repayment of borrowings 21 (8,791,631)        (8,537,604)       

Net cash outflow from financing activities 23,208,369        (8,537,604)       

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents held 5,481,804          (13,289,192)     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 12,920,470        26,209,662      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 8 18,402,274        12,920,470      

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.

3



Cairns Regional Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus

Retained 
surplus/ (deficit) Total

$ $ $

Balance as at 1 July 2017 1,122,534,965  2,570,050,230   3,692,585,195   

Net result -                    35,084,057        35,084,057        
Other comprehensive income for the year 

Increase in asset revaluation surplus 58,449,189       -                     58,449,189        
Balance as at 30 June 2018 1,180,984,154  2,605,134,287   3,786,118,441   

Balance as at 1 July 2016 1,108,421,771  2,537,975,228   3,646,396,999   

Net result -                    32,075,002        32,075,002        
Other comprehensive income for the year 

Increase in asset revaluation surplus 14,113,194       -                     14,113,194        
Balance as at 30 June 2017 1,122,534,965  2,570,050,230   3,692,585,195   

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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Cairns Regional Council

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

Date of authorisation

Constitution

Basis of consolidation

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements are for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 and have been
prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local Government
Regulation 2012. Consequently, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative
pronouncements issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

These general purpose financial statements comply with all accounting standards and interpretations issued by
the AASB that are relevant to Council's operations and effective for the current reporting period.

Controlled entities of Council during the reporting period were Cairns Art Gallery Limited (incorporating its
subsidiary Cairns Regional Gallery Arts Trust) and Cairns River Improvement Trust.

Cairns Art Gallery Limited is a company limited by guarantee and does not have any share capital. Significant
control is exercised by Council over the operations of the gallery. Of the eleven directors, six positions are
allocated to Council representatives. Control is able to be exercised by Council by determining the
composition of the Board as well as the capacity to appoint and remove directors and approve grant funding.

The accounts of Cairns Art Gallery Limited and Cairns River Improvement Trust have been assessed and have
not been consolidated with Council's accounts as at the reporting date due to immateriality. 

Revenue and expenditure are presented as "recurrent" or "capital" in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
on the following basis:

Capital Revenue includes grants and subsidies received which are tied to specific projects for the replacement
or upgrade of existing non-current assets and/or investment in new assets. It also includes non-cash
contributions which are usually infrastructure assets received from developers.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets 
and liabilities and certain classes of property and plant and equipment which are measured at fair value.

Disposal of non-current assets are classified as either "Capital Income" or "Capital Expenses" depending on
whether they result in accounting gains or losses.

All other revenue and expenses have been classified as "recurrent".

The financial statements were authorised for issue on the date they were submitted to the Auditor-General for
final signature. This is the date the management certificate is signed.

Cairns River Improvement Trust is a trust constituted in 1972 under the River Improvement Trust Act 1940 .  
Significant control is exercised by Council over the operations of the trust. Of the three membership positions
of the trust, two are currently filled by Council representatives. Council also provides the majority of the trusts
operating income.

Council is constituted under the Queensland Local Government Act 2009 and is domiciled in Australia.
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Cairns Regional Council

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

1.6

New or 
Revised 
Standard

Summary Impact

AASB 9 
Financial 
Instruments 
effective for 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2018

AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement . It addresses 
the classification, measurement 
and de-recognition of financial 
assets and liabilities and introduces 
a new impairment model that 
requires impairment provisions to 
be based on expected credit 
losses, rather than incurred.

Council does not expect the new standard to have a
significant impact on the classification and measurement
of its financial assets.

AASB 15 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 
effective for 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2019

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers  will replace AASB 
118 Revenue , AASB 111 
Construction Contracts  and a 
number of Interpretations.  It 
contains a comprehensive and 
robust framework for the 
recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of revenue from 
contracts with customers.

Council is currently assessing the effects of AASB 15 and
analysing revenue streams to determine whether they
represent contracts with customers and therefore fall
under AASB 15. If AASB 15 does not apply, AASB 1058
will apply. The most significant change for Council will
likely be to defer income from grants and donations where
the delivery of goods and services are enforceable and
the performance obligations are sufficiently specific. The
majority of grants and donations received by Council are
currently recognised on receipt under AASB 1004
Contributions. As at 30 June 2018, Council had not
identified any grants and donations where the income
should have been deferred had AASB 15 been adopted.
Council intends on applying the cumulative effect
transition method when the Standard becomes effective.

AASB 16 
Leases 
effective for 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2019

AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 
Leases  and introduces new 
recognition and measurement 
criteria which may result in 
previously off balance sheet leases, 
i.e. operating leases, becoming 
recognised and accounted for on 
balance sheet.  A lease liability will 
initially be measured at the present 
value of the lease payments to be 
made over the lease term. A 
corresponding right-of-use asset 
will also be recognised over the 
lease term.

Council is yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the
impact of AASB 16, however based on preliminary
assessments, it is likely that some operating leases will be
recognised as lease assets and financial liabilities on the
balance sheet. Council intends on applying the
cumulative effect transition method when the Standard
becomes effective.

This year Council has applied AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Disclosure
Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107 for the first time. As a result Council has disclosed more information to
explain changes in liabilities arising from financing activities This information is presented
in note 21.

New and revised Accounting Standards

Some Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective. Those
standards have not been applied in these financial statements. Council will implement them when they are
effective.  The standards that are expected to be applicable to Council's future financial statements are:
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Cairns Regional Council

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

New or 
Revised 
Standard

Summary Impact

AASB 1058 
Income of Not-
for-Profit 
Entities 
effective for 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2019

AASB 1058 replaces AASB 1004 
Contributions .  It establishes 
revenue recognition principles for 
not-for-profit entities where the 
consideration provided to acquire 
an asset is significantly less than 
the fair value of that asset.

Council is currently assessing the effects of AASB 1058.
Where no performance obligation under a contract with a
customer exists, Council will continue to recognise income
on receipt. At 30 June 2018, Council had received
prepaid rates totalling $11.4 million. These rates are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. If
Council had applied AASB 1058 this year, these rates
would have been recognised as a liability in the Statement
of Financial Position and Council's net result would
decrease by $11.4 million. Council intends on applying
the cumulative effect transition method when the Standard
becomes effective.

1.7

1.8 Taxation

Where a significant business activity is subject to the National Tax Equivalents Regime, the income tax
expense is calculated on the operating surplus adjusted for permanent differences between taxable and
accounting income.  These transactions are eliminated upon consolidation.

The significant business activities of Council (as noted in Note 24) pay an income tax equivalent to Council in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009.

Income of local authorities and public authorities is exempt from Commonwealth taxation. Council is subject to
Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax The net amount of GST recoverable from the
Australian Tax Office ('ATO') or payable to the ATO is shown as an asset or liability respectively. 

Council pays payroll tax to the Queensland Government on certain activities.

In the application of Council's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and ongoing
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant. 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are outlined in the following
financial statement notes:
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

2 Analysis of Results by Function

(a) Components of Council functions

The activities relating to the Council's components reported on in Note 2(b) are as follows :

Finance

Human Resources and Organisational Change

Planning and Environment

Infrastructure Services

Community, Sport and Cultural Services
Community, Sport and Cultural Services manages a number of the region's public facilities; including the
Botanical Gardens, Sugarworld, Munro Martin Parklands, Tanks Art Centre, museums and art galleries and the
region's libraries. This department also services parks and gardens with barbeque and picnic facilities, sports
grounds and playgrounds.

Cairns Water
Cairns Water is responsible for the provision of water and wastewater services to consumers throughout the
Cairns region. This includes supplying safe, reliable drinking water to consumers, collection and treatment of
domestic sewerage and commercial and industrial trade waste, planning for and delivering water and
wastewater infrastructure and maintenance of the community's water and wastewater infrastructure.

Cairns Resource Recovery
Cairns Resource Recovery is responsible for the provision of solid waste services to consumers throughout the
Cairns region, including collection, recycling and disposal of domestic, commercial and industrial solid waste,
planning for and delivering solid waste infrastructure and maintenance of the community's solid waste
infrastructure.

Cairns Works
Cairns Works is the principal provider of operational services to Council in the sub-programs of transport,
drainage, parks and foreshores and infrastructure management. Services delivered include construction of
municipal civil engineering projects, programmed and reactive maintenance activities and operational tasks on
Cairns Regional Council assets in accordance with agreed levels of service. External work is also undertaken
when and where there is an overall benefit to Council and the community.

The program provides the strategic planning and the provision of essential transport, drainage and parks
infrastructure, maintenance, construction and operational services to the community. It also facilitates the
coordination of Council's capital projects delivery.

Finance provides professional financial management and advisory services to Council. The core functions
include Cairns Shared Services, Financial Accounting, Information Services, Management Accounting, Payroll,
Centralised Procurement and Records. 

Human Resources and Organisational Change are responsible for the provision of sustainable human
resources and organisational change services that support internal and external customers. Core functions
include Corporate Training, Governance, Recruitment and Selection, Service Quality, HR/IR Consultancy and
WH&S.

Planning and Environment delivers Council's aim of achieving sustainability by maintaining a healthy economy,
vibrant communities and a thriving biophysical environment. This includes Development and Regulatory
Services, Planning Strategies and Economic Development.

Infrastructure Services is responsible for ensuring infrastructure assets and facilities are procured, maintained
and operated within a framework of strategic planning and management that is consistent with corporate
objectives and best value service delivery.
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Cairns Regional Council

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

3 Revenue

(a) Rates, levies and charges

2018 2017

$ $

General rates 111,821,126     108,764,771     
Special rates 654,840            657,411            
Water 21,528,064       21,019,895       
Water consumption 26,870,074       26,050,054       
Sewerage 69,194,878       67,480,653       
Cleansing charges 26,325,909       25,619,962       
Rates and utility charge revenue 256,394,891     249,592,746     
Less:  rebates (4,134,457)        (2,475,166)        
Net rates and utility charges 252,260,434     247,117,580     

(b) Other recurrent revenue

Contract and recoverable works 2,472,451         2,199,712         
Reimbursements and cost recoveries 1,503,396         1,420,141         
Sundry and other recurrent revenue 5,604,005         6,474,684         

9,579,852         10,094,537       

4

(i) Monetary revenue designated for capital funding purposes:
Government subsidies and grants 41,235,589       21,339,677       
Contributions 12,683,521       7,683,790         

53,919,110       29,023,467       

(ii) Non-monetary revenue received:
Developer assets contributed by developers at fair value 16,994,112       22,049,568       

Total capital grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 70,913,222       51,073,035       

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations

Where rate monies are received prior to the commencement of the rating/levying period, the amount is
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received, otherwise rates are recognised in the rating
period.

Grants and subsidies
Grants, subsidies and contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over them.
Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised as the various performance
obligations under the funding agreement are fulfilled.  Council does not currently have any reciprocal grants.

Non-cash contributions
Non-cash contributions with a value in excess of the recognition thresholds are recognised as revenue and as
non-current assets.  Non-cash contributions below the thresholds are recorded as revenue and expenses.

Other revenue is recognised as a receivable when it is probable that it will be received and the amount is
known, otherwise the amount is recognised upon receipt.
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Cairns Regional Council

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Note $ $

5 Employee benefits

Total staff wages and salaries 75,238,603        74,681,383        
Councillors' remuneration 1,147,904          1,126,015          
Annual, sick and long service leave entitlements 13,800,475        13,680,948        
Superannuation 18 9,319,480          9,143,451          

99,506,462        98,631,797        
Other employee related expenses 5,101,031          6,169,050          

104,607,493      104,800,847      
Less: Capitalised employee expenses (9,241,693)        (9,231,213)        

95,365,800        95,569,634        

2018 2017
Total Council employees at the reporting date: employees employees
Elected members 10                      10                      
Council Employees 1,116                 1,112                 
Total full time equivalent employees 1,126                 1,122                 

6 Materials and services

Agency and temporary employment services 7,685,266          5,830,973          
Audit of the Annual Financial Statements by the Auditor-General 
of Queensland

171,500             180,628             

Communication and IT 4,649,328          4,245,872          
Donations paid and grants to community groups 6,066,757          6,036,404          
Electricity 10,083,714        9,017,420          
External services and hire 23,858,853        22,983,149        
Garbage collection services 16,442,693        16,785,100        
Other materials and services 14,685,881        15,279,241        
Rentals - operating leases 767,737             757,311             
Repairs and maintenance 19,532,917        17,845,640        

103,944,646      98,961,738        

7 Capital expenses

Loss on disposal of capital assets 13,583,972        21,145,611        
Loss on write-off of non-current assets 2,613,762          4,272,297          
Revaluation decrement of property, plant and equipment 11(b) 21,713,536        -                  
Gain on disposal of non-current assets classified as held for sale (287,760)           -                  

37,623,510        25,417,908        

Capital expenses comprise the loss on disposal and write off of capital assets as well as revaluation
decrements unable to be recognised in the asset revaluation surplus. The gain or loss on disposal is
recognised on the date the asset was taken out of service.

Councillor remuneration represents salary and other allowances paid in respect of carrying out their duties.

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given in exchange for services rendered by employees. They
are expensed as the related service is provided.

Materials and services are comprised of Council's operational, administrative and repairs and maintenance
costs.  Expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis once the good or service has been received.
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Notes to the financial statements
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8

2018 2017
Note $  $

Cash in operating bank account 23 106,385            265,609            
Cash on hand 23 28,350              34,240              
Deposits and investments held with QTC 23 18,267,539       12,620,621       
Balance per Statement of Cash Flows 18,402,274       12,920,470       

Unspent government grants and subsidies 8,604,715         5,939,319         
Unspent developer contributions 18,652              29,180,111       
Funds set aside and held in reserves for future projects 464,990            948,730            
Total unspent restricted cash for capital projects 9,088,357         36,068,160       

9

Trade receivables are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed
purchase price or contract price. Settlement of these amounts is generally required within 30 days from
invoice date.

The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically and if there is objective evidence that Council will not
be able to collect all amounts due, the carrying amount is reduced for impairment. The loss is recognised in
finance costs.  All known bad debts were written-off at 30 June.

Because Council is empowered under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2009 to sell an owner's
property to recover outstanding rate debts, Council does not impair any rate receivables.

Interest is charged on outstanding rates at a rate of 11% per annum. No interest is charged on other debtors.
There is no concentration of credit risk for rates and utility charges, fees and other debtors received.

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Externally and internally imposed expenditure restrictions at the 
reporting date relate to the following cash assets:

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at the year
end, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash deposits are held with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia in a normal business cheque account and in
an at call investment account with the Queensland Treasury Corporation.
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2018 2017
Note $ $

9
(a) a) Current

Rateable revenue and utility charges 18,234,306       16,358,809       
Water charges 3,178,487         3,120,041         
Fees and charges 1,242,279         1,031,420         
Grants receivable 1,942,910         1,805,814         
Other accrued revenue 5,817,582         5,370,113         
Other debtors 6,011,507         6,509,427         
Less: impairment provision 9(b) (1,647,281)        (1,374,484)        

34,779,790       32,821,140       

Prepayments 2,868,836         3,741,948         
37,648,626       36,563,088       

b) Impairment provision
Opening balance at 1 July 1,374,484         1,377,475         
Receivables written off in period (268,491)           (163,215)           
Provisions recognised 541,288            160,224            
Closing balance at 30 June 9(a) 1,647,281         1,374,484         

10 Non-current assets held for sale

AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

The carrying amount at 30 June 2018 of the non-current assets held for sale is shown below:

Non-current assets held for sale 2018
$

Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment 816,817            
Less carrying amount of blocks sold in 2017/18 (282,712)           
Balance at 30 June 2018 534,105            

The carrying amount includes the initial purchase prices of the land as well as the subsequent costs incurred to
develop the land into residential blocks. The fair value was determined by an independent valuation using the
direct comparison approach. The land is categorised as a level 2 valuation. Disposal costs were estimated
based on commission rates charged by the real estate agents that have been engaged and legal costs quoted
by Council's solicitors.

Items of property, plant and equipment are reclassified as non-current assets as held for sale when the
carrying amount of these assets will be recovered principally through a sales transaction rather than continuing
use. Non-current assets classified as held for sale are available for immediate sale in their present condition
and Council believe the sale is highly probable. Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell and are not depreciated. On the eventual sale of these
assets a gain or loss is recognised.

Land classified as held for sale during the reporting period was measured at its carrying amount as that was
lower than the fair value less cost to sell at the time of reclassification. 

Council acquired land known as 133-144 Farmer Street, Edmonton on 26 June 2013 to enable expansion of
existing sport facilities on the site. This land was subsequently reconfigured and developed into 12 residential
blocks which Council resolved to sell as it was surplus to Council's requirements. The blocks were first
available for sale on 6 June 2017 however development works were not completed until May 2018.

During 2017/18, four of the blocks were sold and the gain on disposal for these blocks is reflected in Capital
Expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. An additional two blocks were sold subsequent to 30
June 2018 resulting in a gain on disposal of $169,778 which has not been accounted for in these financial
statements. The remaining unsold blocks as at 30 June 2018 continue to be actively marketed via Remax
Real Estate and are expected to be sold within the next 12 months.

Trade and other receivables
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11 Property, plant and equipment

a)

i) Acquisition of assets

iii) Valuation
Land and improvements, buildings, major plant and all infrastructure assets are measured on the revaluation
basis, at fair value, in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant & Equipment and AASB 13 Fair Value
Measurement . Other plant and equipment and work in progress are measured at cost. Council maintains a
rolling schedule for comprehensive revaluations.

Comprehensive valuations are performed by a mixture of independent, professionally qualified valuers and
experienced Council Officers. A comprehensive revaluation involves the asset or a representative sample being
physically inspected and a replacement cost being arrived at from first principles for the asset class. The fair
value is then determined by combining the replacement cost and remaining useful life based on condition to give
written down current replacement cost.

In between comprehensive valuations, desktop or indexation reviews are conducted by either professionally
qualified valuers or Council Officers. This process involves the review and assessment of any factors that may
have materially impacted the condition rating of assets within the class as well as a review of cost assumptions
compared to the latest industry indexes, Council cost information as well as the advice of internal engineers and
independent third parties. 

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the asset
revaluation surplus, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised
as an expense. A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it
exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus of that asset class.

On revaluation, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the revalued amount. At the date of revaluation,
the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount
of the asset. The accumulated depreciation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the carrying amount of the asset.

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Items of plant and equipment have an asset
capitalisation threshold of $5,000. All other assets have an asset capitalisation threshold of $10,000 except for
land, network assets and complex assets which all have a capitalisation threshold of $1.

Network assets are an aggregate of interrelated assets that perform a specific service which, individually are
likely to be below the capitalisation threshold levels, but collectively are above the capitalisation threshold for
their class. Networked assets include computers and communication equipment, parking meters, and library
books.

Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as
consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including freight in, architect's fees and engineering design
fees and all other establishment costs.

Property, plant and equipment received in the form of contributions, are recognised as assets and revenue at fair
value by Council valuation where that value exceeds the recognition thresholds for the respective asset class.  

Direct labour and materials and an appropriate proportion of overheads incurred in the acquisition or construction
of assets are treated as capital expenditure. Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are
completed and commissioned, at which time they are reclassified from work in progress to the appropriate
property, plant and equipment class.

Routine operating maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals to maintain the operational capacity and useful
life of the non-current asset is expensed as incurred, while expenditure that relates to replacement of a major
component of an asset to maintain its service potential is capitalised.

ii) Capital and operating expenditure
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iv) Capital work in progress

v) Depreciation

vi) Asset revaluation surplus

When an asset is disposed of, the amount reported in surplus in respect of that asset is retained in the asset
revaluation surplus and not transferred to retained surplus.

The cost of property, plant and equipment being constructed by Council includes the cost of purchased services,
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment
assets is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write-off the value of each depreciable asset, less its
estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the Council. Management believe that the
straight-line basis appropriately reflects the pattern of consumption of all Council assets.

Assets are depreciated from the first day of the month following acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed
assets, from the first day of the month following the date an asset is completed and commissioned ready for use.

The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold land is allocated progressively over the estimated
useful lives of the improvements to the Council or the unexpired period of the lease, whichever is the shorter.

Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they relate.

The asset revaluation surplus comprises adjustments relating to changes in value of property, plant and
equipment that do not result from the use of those assets. Net incremental changes in the carrying value of
classes of non-current assets since their initial recognition are accumulated in the asset revaluation surplus.

Increases and decreases on revaluation are offset within a class of assets.

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these
components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate.  Any expenditure that increases 
the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new depreciable amount is
depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to the Council.

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment assets are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted where necessary to reflect any changes in the pattern
of consumption, physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence, or management intentions. The
condition assessments and subsequent estimation of remaining useful lives performed as part of the annual
valuation process for assets measured at written down current replacement cost are used to estimate the useful
lives of these assets at each reporting date. Details of the range of estimated useful lives for each class are
shown in Note 11(b).

Major spares purchased specifically for particular assets that are above the asset recognition threshold are
capitalised and depreciated on the same basis as the asset to which they relate.

Further details on the valuation of assets is contained in Note 11(c).
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11 Property, plant and equipment
c) Fair Value Measurements

(i) Valuation processes and valuers

Asset Class Revaluation Type

Land Comprehensive

Site Improvements Comprehensive

Buildings & Other Structures Comprehensive

Swimming Pools Indexed Management Valuation
Transport Assets

Road Network Indexed
Road Bridges Indexed
Pedestrian Bridges Indexed
Footpaths Indexed

Drainage Comprehensive

Water Assets
Water Mains Pipe Network Indexed

Other Water Assets Indexed
Sewerage Assets

Sewer Mains Pipe Network Indexed

Other Sewerage Assets  Indexed

Solid Waste Disposal Assets Comprehensive

(ii) Recognised fair value measurements

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3 Fair value based on unobservable inputs for the asset and liability.

The following table categorises fair value as either Level 2 or Level 3 in accordance with AASB 13. Council
does not have any assets measured at fair value which meet the criteria for categorisation as Level 1. 

The fair values of the assets are determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable data, where it is available, and minimise the use of entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an asset are observable, the asset is included in Level 2. If one or more of the
significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the asset is included in Level 3. This is the case for
Council infrastructure assets, which are of a specialist nature for which there is no active market for similar or
identical assets.  These assets are valued using a combination of observable and unobservable inputs.

The table presents the Council's assets measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2018. Comparative 
information has been provided for 30 June 2017. 

Management Valuation
Management Valuation

Management Valuation

Management Valuation, Cardno (Qld) Ltd and 
FlowPro Pty Ltd

Management Valuation

The following table summarises the revaluation type and valuer for each asset class valued under the
revaluation model.

Fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.
Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable for the
asset or liability.

Management Valuation

APV

Name of Valuer

Cardno (Qld) Ltd

In accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurements are categorised on the following basis:

Management Valuation

Management Valuation and APV

Management Valuation

Management Valuation

Management Valuation
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As at 30 June 2018

Asset Class Level 2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

Total
$'000

Land 265,770                      -                              265,770                      
Site Improvements -                              67,231                        67,231                        
Buildings and Other Structures 634                             266,553                      267,187                      
Transport Assets -                              1,411,617                   1,411,617                   
Drainage -                              483,715                      483,715                      
Water Assets -                              522,173                      522,173                      
Sewerage Assets -                              656,768                      656,768                      
Solid Waste Disposal Assets -                              12,851                        12,851                        
Total                        266,404                     3,420,908                     3,687,312 

As at 30 June 2017

Asset Class Level 2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

Total
$'000

Land 214,586                      -                              214,586                      
Site Improvements -                              62,628                        62,628                        
Buildings and Other Structures 23,930                        167,298                      191,228                      
Transport Assets -                              1,332,991                   1,332,991                   
Drainage -                              614,124                      614,124                      
Water Assets -                              520,504                      520,504                      
Sewerage Assets -                              655,787                      655,787                      
Solid Waste Disposal Assets -                              11,971                        11,971                        
Total                        238,516                     3,365,303                     3,603,819 

(iii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values

Where there was no market evidence for land due to its configuration, Council zoning restrictions,
contamination or similar factors, the cost approach has been adopted to determine fair value. The highest
and best use alternative was utilised in the determination of the replacement cost where there was no directly
comparable market evidence for the current use. The values are derived with reference to market based
evidence including historical sales, data for properties of similar nature, and specification in the same
localities. 

Land values were determined by independent registered valuer APV Valuers and Asset Management, with a
valuation effective 30 June 2018. Level 2 valuation inputs were used to value land held in freehold title as well
as land used for special purposes which is restricted under current zoning rules. Sales prices of comparable
land sites in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most
significant inputs into this valuation approach are price per square metre. 

Land (Level 2)

Council's policy is to recognise transfers in and out of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period. In the process of revaluing buildings the nature of the inputs were reviewed and as such there were
transfers during the year from level 2 to level 3 totalling $23,320,500. There were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2 during the year. 
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CRC was measured by reference to the reproduction cost or replacement cost using the modern equivalent
asset, as appropriate to the particular asset. All cost calculations have been based on the estimated current
costs at 30 June 2018. In all cases the assets have been disaggregated sufficiently to ensure a reliable
measure of cost and service capacity.

Condition assessments were performed at the time of revaluation by APV for the purposes of assessing the
level of accumulated depreciation and remaining useful life for depreciation purposes. Assets capable of
disaggregation into significant components are componentised and depreciated separately based on their
estimated useful life and expected pattern of consumption of their future economic benefit. This includes
splitting each component where applicable into the short-term and long-life (recyclable) sub-components
consistent with the AASB 116 residual value clarification. The long-life and short-life sub-component
information is combined to give a weighted average amount for the relevant asset component. Condition was
assessed taking into account both physical characteristics as well as holistic factors such as functionality,
capability, utilisation and obsolescence.

Transfers between level 2 and 3 are a reflection on the availability of observable inputs. While the unit rates
based on square metres could be supported from market evidence (level 2) other inputs (such as estimates
of residual value, useful life, pattern of consumption and asset condition) requires extensive professional
judgement and impacted significantly on the final determination of fair value. Whilst the value of $23M worth
of building assets were previously valued on comparable market data, been determined there is a lack of
comparable data in 2018 and as such these assets were classified as having been valued using level 3
valuation inputs.

The fair value of buildings and other structures (excluding swimming pools) were determined by independent
registered valuer APV Valuers and Asset Management effective 30 June 2018. The current use of each
building was presumed to be its highest and best use. During the revaluation process, two buildings were
assessed on market value principles, which are deemed to be their fair value based on level 2 inputs. The fair
value has been derived from sale prices of comparable properties after adjusting for differences in key
attributes such as property size. 

Specialised buildings where inputs required significant professional judgement are classified as level 3.
Where buildings are of a specialist nature and there is no active market for the assets, fair value has been
determined on the basis of replacement cost with a modern equivalent having similar service potential.
Replacement cost is determined through a combination of APV's database, Construction Guide
or similar guides, benchmarking against other valuations and development of costs using APV's model for
specific asset types. The most significant inputs into this valuation approach were price per square metre.

Infrastructure assets (Level 3)

All Council infrastructure assets (including transport, drainage, water and waste assets) were fair valued
using the "Current Replacement Cost" (CRC) methodology. The valuation comprises the asset's CRC less
accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired
future economic benefits of the asset. Council first determined the gross cost of replacing the full service
potential of the asset and then adjusted this amount to take account of the expired service potential of the
asset. 

It is noted that the last comprehensive valuation for land was completed in 2013 with a desktop index
assessment completed in the intervening years. Consistent with prior years the current year valuation
performed by APV resulted in majority of the land being valued using the approach over the
approach due to the restrictions on Council Land. To assess what it would cost Council to acquire each land
parcel while competing with market participants, there was a greater emphasis placed on what would be the
highest and best alternative use for each property based on the surrounding land. This has resulted in a
$50M increase to the value of land in 2018.

Buildings and other structures (Level 2 and Level 3)
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Transport

Bridges and Footpaths

The depreciation method used should reflect the predicted pattern of consumption of the future
economic benefits. For Council, the methodology incorporating condition data (where
appropriate) best reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in
the asset.

The last comprehensive valuation of transport assets was undertaken effective 30 June 2015. As part of the
comprehensive valuation, unit rates were developed for each asset category in the transport network. The
methodology for each was determined based on the most appropriate inputs.

CRC for transport assets was determined at 30 June 2018 based on a review of price movements for labour,
plant and materials (specific to Cairns).  An indexation factor of 2.73% has been applied.

Council's roads are inspected at least once a year with higher order roads inspected twice a year. Council
has a rolling road maintenance and renewal program to ensure road assets are well maintained. This
minimises any impacts on remaining useful lives (RUL). In addition, Council ensures defect notifications are
inspected and actioned in a timely manner to conserve the roads condition. As at 30 June 2018, there has
been no major weather events that would have required an adjustment to the RUL of Council's transport
network.

A comprehensive valuation of transport assets is scheduled for 2019.

In developing the respective unit rates, consideration has been given to the assets structure and
components, estimates of cost for similar projects and allowances for ground conditions and locality. 

To arrive at the for infrastructure assets, the direct construction costs have been increased by
appropriate on-cost factors to allow for various items that are relevant to the provision of infrastructure. These
include survey, planning, investigation and design, engineering supervision, contract administration
supervision, construction contingencies and local conditions. The factors vary according to the type of work,
the location and local conditions, and are detailed against each asset category below.

Indices have been selected from a variety of sources, and have in all cases been selected and applied in
order to best match the asset class under consideration. 

The CRC was determined using methods relevant to the asset class as described under individual asset
categories below.

A comprehensive valuation of bridge and footpath assets is scheduled for 2020.

In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, transport assets were disaggregated into significant
components which exhibited different useful lives.

The RUL was estimated based on the assets condition. This assessment was made on the basis that
maintenance and renewal schedules for the assets were adhered to and defect notifications were inspected
and actioned in a timely manner throughout the year. Additionally, there were no major weather events during
the year which would have required an adjustment to the RUL.

CRC for bridge and footpath assets was determined at 30 June 2018 based on a review of price movements
for labour, plant and materials (specific to Cairns).  An indexation factor of 2.73% has been applied.

The last comprehensive valuation of bridge and footpath assets was undertaken effective 30 June 2016. As
part of the comprehensive valuation, similar assets were aggregated to ensure a reliable measure of cost and
service capacity as well as deterioration of estimated RUL.
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Drainage

Factors taken into account in determining replacement cost included:

The RUL was calculated on an age basis. This assessment was made on the basis that maintenance and
renewal schedules for the assets were adhered to and defect notifications were inspected and actioned in a
timely manner throughout the year. Additionally, there were no major weather events during the year which
would have required an adjustment to the RUL.

Unit rates were developed by an external contractor, Cardno (Qld) Ltd and were derived from the following
sources:
  - Cardno's database
  - Scheduled rates for construction of asset or similar assets
  - Cost models derived by Cardno
  - Building Price Index tables
  - Recent contract and tender data, including data specific to Cairns Regional Council

Drainage assets were comprehensively valued by Council with inputs from external consultants, Cardno (Qld)
Ltd and FlowPro Pty Ltd, as at 30 June 2018. As part of the comprehensive valuation, similar assets were
aggregated to ensure a reliable measure of cost and service capacity as well as deterioration of estimated
RUL. This approach was applied to open drains as well as underground pipes, culverts and associated
infrastructure.

The useful lives of all asset categories were reviewed and found to be appropriate based upon past
experience and industry standard practices. The value of excavation works associated with the development
of unlined open drains are considered non-depreciable as they have unlimited lives.

Suitably qualified officers developed a condition assessment methodology which was used to condition rate
all drainage assets. A complete stocktake of Council's drainage network was then undertaken based upon
Council's mapping data. Appropriate sample sizes were determined for inspection, ratings were applied and
extrapolated based on the condition assessment methodology. All samples were statistically representative
of the relevant asset category. Inspections of pipes, culverts and associated infrastructure were carried out
via CCTV by FlowPro Pty Ltd.  All other inspections were undertaken by Council officers.

Development and soil factors were applied to Council's underground pipe network. Development and soil
factors were removed from culverts and associated infrastructure as it was determined that these are
ancillary assets only, and the adjustment factors would be borne by the primary asset being the pipe or road.
As a result of the removal, replacement cost decreased by $68M. Replacement cost also decreased by
$51M as a result of adjustments to depth factors applied to underground assets.

In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, bridge and footpath assets were disaggregated into
significant components which exhibited different useful lives. 

- Development factors - the area in which development takes place (e.g. rural areas would have little or no
restoration requirements, whereas a high density area would have large amounts of high quality footpaths,
road pavements and associated infrastructure that would require reinstatement, and would also require
traffic control).
- Soil factors - The types of soil or other surface material (e.g. areas where soil is sandy are difficult to
excavate and would require shoring while areas where the soil is generally free of rock would not present
any great difficulty for excavation).
- Depth factors - The depth of the trench required.
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Water and Sewerage

CRC for water and sewerage assets was determined at 30 June 2018 based on a review of price movements
for labour, plant and materials (specific to Cairns).  An indexation factor of 2.41% has been applied.

In determining accumulated depreciation, assets were allocated a condition rating between 1 and 5, which
was used to estimate RUL - 1 being excellent and 5 being unserviceable. Where inspections were
conducted, the assets condition was determined based on visual record. Where inspections were not
conducted, the RUL was extrapolated on an age basis.  

The increase in accumulated depreciation reflects current condition assessments which showed a
deterioration in condition from the previous revaluation in 2014.  Written down value was also impacted by the 
removal of adjustment factors on culverts and associated infrastructure ($60M) and adjustments to depth
factors ($40M). The decrease in WDV was recognised against the asset revaluation surplus to the extent
that reserves were held for the drainage class. The remaining decrement of $22M was recognised in capital
expenditure in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

RUL was calculated on an age basis. This assessment was made on the basis that maintenance schedules
for the assets were adhered to and defect notifications were inspected and actioned in a timely manner
throughout the year. Additionally, there were no major weather events during the year which would have
required an adjustment to the RUL.

A comprehensive valuation of water and sewerage assets was last undertaken by independent valuers,
Cardno (Qld) Ltd as follows:
- Above ground sewerage assets effective 30 June 2015
- Sewerage and water mains effective 30 June 2016 
- Above ground water assets effective 30 June 2017

A comprehensive valuation of sewerage treatment plants and pump stations is scheduled for 2019. Water
and sewerage main assets are scheduled to be comprehensively revalued in 2020 and above ground water
assets are scheduled to be comprehensively revalued in 2021.

CRC was calculated based on expected replacement costs. In all cases the assets were disaggregated to
component level to ensure a reliable measure of cost and service capacity and deterioration of estimated
remaining life.

In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, water and sewerage assets were disaggregated into
significant components which exhibited different useful lives.
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12 Trade and other payables

Salaries and wages

Annual leave

Sick leave

Superannuation

2018 2017
$ $

Current
Creditors and accruals 32,473,478       39,564,852       
Annual leave 10,965,067       10,697,818       
Sick leave 1,938,771         1,935,357         
Other entitlements 339,444            323,265            

45,716,760       52,521,292       

13 Provisions

Long service leave

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the
agreed purchase/contract price net of applicable discounts other than contingent discounts. Amounts
owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

A liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The value of the liability is
calculated using current pay rates and projected future increases in those rates and includes related
employee on-costs. The estimates are adjusted for the probability of the employee remaining in the
Council's employment or other associated employment which would result in the Council being required to
meet the liability. Adjustments are then made to allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and
the result is discounted to present value. The interest rates attaching to Commonwealth Government
guaranteed securities at the reporting date are used to discount the estimated future cash outflows to their
present value. This liability is reported as a provision. 

Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service a probability factor is applied to determine
the portion of their entitlement likely to be taken within the next twelve months. This is classified as a
current liability, with the remainder classified as non-current.

A liability for salaries and wages is recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at
current pay rates in respect of employees' services up to that date. 

A liability for annual leave is recognised. Amounts expected to be settled within 12 months are calculated
on current wage and salary levels and includes related employee on-costs. Amounts not expected to be
settled within 12 months are calculated on projected future wage and salary levels and related employee
on-costs, and are discounted to present values. 

Council has an obligation to pay a portion of sick leave on termination to certain employees and therefore a
liability has been recognised for this obligation.  

The superannuation expense for the reporting period is the amount of the contribution the Council makes
to the superannuation plan which provides benefits to its employees. Details of those arrangements are
set out in Note 18.
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Developer contribution credits

2018 2017
$ $

Current
Developer contribution credits 2,859,422         5,461,600         
Long service leave 1,219,797         1,127,131         

4,079,219         6,588,731         
Non-current

Developer contribution credits 8,092,634         4,277,768         
Long service leave 13,060,443       12,675,367       

21,153,077       16,953,135       

Details of movements in provisions:

Long service leave
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 13,802,498       13,111,551       
Long service leave entitlements arising 2,045,667         2,679,420         
Long service leave entitlements paid (1,567,925)        (1,988,473)        
Balance at end of financial year 14,280,240       13,802,498       

Developer contribution credits
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 9,739,368         9,525,482         
Developer contribution credits arising 4,910,300         6,569,911         
Developer contribution credits paid (3,697,612)        (6,356,025)        
Balance at end of financial year 10,952,056       9,739,368         

14 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

Where borrowing costs can be attributed to a specific capital project, the costs are capitalised as part of
the qualifying asset during construction. Otherwise, borrowing costs are expensed as finance costs when
they are incurred. 

Costs that are not settled in the period in which they are incurred are included in payables. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Council has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

The provision is classified as current where payment is expected to be settled within 12 months and is
classified as non-current where payment is not expected to be settled within 12 months. Where payment
for the trunk infrastructure assets is not expected to be settled within 12 months, the value of the payment
is discounted to present value.

A provision is made for the cost of trunk infrastructure assets constructed by developers on behalf of
Council. The provision is raised when construction works are sufficiently progressed that the value and
timing of payment can be reliably measured. Corresponding assets are also recognised within work in
progress at this time. Where the value of the trunk infrastructure assets cannot be reliably measured, a
contingent liability and corresponding contingent asset are disclosed.
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Unsecured borrowings

Working capital facility

2018 2017
$ $

11,880,019       8,876,462         
11,880,019       8,876,462         

98,838,037       78,633,225       
98,838,037       78,633,225       

Loan market value at the reporting date 109,674,484     86,163,972       

15 Commitments for expenditure
a)

Contract for Regional Waste Management Facility:
Not later than 1 year 10,529,000       10,323,000       
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 44,814,883       43,938,079       
Later than 5 years 35,595,709       47,451,287       

90,939,592       101,712,366     

Contract for Other commitments:
Not later than 1 year 18,907,762       22,850,410       
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 36,837,126       40,089,970       
Later than 5 years 24,560,052       32,714,189       

80,304,940       95,654,569       

Details of borrowings at the reporting date are:

Unsecured borrowings are provided by the Queensland Treasury Corporation. All borrowings are in
Australian dollars and carried at amortised cost. No assets have been pledged as security by Council for
any liabilities, however all loans are guaranteed by the Queensland Government. Expected final
repayment dates vary from 15 June 2023 to 15 June 2028.

There have been no defaults or breaches of the loan agreement during the period. Principal and interest
repayments are made monthly in arrears.

In accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012 Council adopts an annual debt policy that sets
out Council's planned borrowings for the current financial year and the next nine years. Council's current
policy is to only borrow for capital projects and for a term no longer than 20 years. Council also aims to
comply with the Queensland Treasury Corporation's borrowing guidelines and ensure that sustainability
indicators remain within acceptable levels at all times.

Contractual commitments

A working capital facility of $60,000,000 has been established with the Queensland Treasury Corporation.
As at 30 June 2018 there were no working capital drawdowns.  

Current

Non-Current

Contractual commitments at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements are as
follows:

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from finance activities can be found at note 21.
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15 Commitments for expenditure
b) Capital commitments

2018 2017

Note $ $

Capital assets 24,433,608        66,536,827        
24,433,608        66,536,827        

Not later than 1 year 24,433,608        66,536,827        
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years -                  -                  

24,433,608        66,536,827        

16 Events after the reporting date

17 Contingent liabilities
a)

496,500             1,323,713          

23(a) 2,718,641          2,805,852          

b)
Loans and bank guarantees to community organisations 1,393,162          1,135,756          

There were no material financial adjusting events after the reporting date.

Commitment for the construction of capital assets contracted for at the reporting date but not
recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Cairns Regional Council is a member of the Local Government Mutual liability self-insurance pool, LGM
Queensland. In the event of the pool being wound up or it is unable to meet its debts as they fall due,
the trust deed and rules provide that any accumulated deficit will be met by the individual pool members
in the same proportion as their contribution is to the total pool contributions in respect to any year that a
deficit arises. As at 30 June 2017, the financial statements of Local Government Mutual Queensland
reported an accumulated surplus and it is not anticipated any liability will arise. As at 30 June 2017, the
financial statements of Local Government Mutual Queensland reported a members' equity balance of
$70,521,289 (2016: $60,234,042).

Loan and bank guarantees

Contingent liabilities

Additional claims may exist, however, these have not been quantified to date.

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent liabilities are as follows:

Various claims are pending against Council. In the opinion of 

2018 should not exceed:

Cairns Regional Council is a member of the Queensland local government workers compensation self-
insurance scheme, Local Government Workcare. Under this scheme Council has provided an
indemnity towards a bank guarantee to cover bad debts which may remain should the self insurance
licence be cancelled and there were insufficient funds available to cover outstanding liabilities. Only the
Queensland Government's workers compensation authority may call on any part of the guarantee
should the above circumstances arise. Council's maximum exposure to the bank guarantee is:
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18 Superannuation

2018 2017
Note $ $

657,024         757,791         

8,541,085      8,262,989      

121,371         122,671         

5 9,319,480      9,143,451      

Cairns Regional Council contributes to the LGIAsuper Regional Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the rate of 12%
for each permanent employee who is a defined benefit member. This rate is set in accordance with the
LGIAsuper trust deed and may be varied on the advice of an actuary. The Regional Defined Benefits Fund is a
complying superannuation scheme for the purpose of the Commonwealth Superannuation Industry (Supervision)
legislation and is also governed by the Local Government Act 2009. 

The scheme is a defined benefit plan, however Council is not able to account for it as a defined benefit plan in
accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits because LGIAsuper is unable to account for its proportionate
share of the defined benefit obligation, plan assets and costs.

The most significant risks that may result in LGIAsuper increasing the contribution rate, on the advice of the
actuary, are:

Investment risk - The risk that the scheme's investment returns will be lower than assumed and additional 
contributions are needed to fund the shortfall.

Cairns Regional Council also contributes to the superannuation
scheme for the benefit of elected members. The amount of
contributions paid for this benefit during the reporting period was:

Council expects to make contributions to the Regional Defined Benefits Funds of $612,364 in 2018/19.

There are currently 63 entities contributing to the scheme and any changes in contribution rates would apply
equally to all 63 entities. Council made less than 4% of the total contributions to the plan in the 2017/18 financial
year.  

Superannuation contributions made to the Regional Defined Benefits
Fund in this period for the benefit of employees was:

The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme was undertaken as at 1 July 2015. The actuary
indicated that the valuation date of 1 July 2015, the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested benefits
and the scheme was in a satisfactory financial position as at the valuation date." The Council is not aware of
anything that has happened since that time that indicates the assets of the scheme are not sufficient to meet the
vested benefits, as at the reporting date.

Another actuarial investigation is being conducted as at 1 July 2018. At the time of signing these financial
statements this investigation is still in progress.

Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may affect future benefits and result in a change to
the contribution rate, but has not been recognised as an asset or liability of the Council.

Technically Cairns Regional Council can be liable to the scheme for a portion of another local
obligations should that local government be unable to meet them. However the risk of this occurring is extremely
low and in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed changes to council's obligations will only be made on the
advice of an actuary.

No changes have been made to prescribed employer contributions which remain at 12% of employee assets
and there are no known requirements to change the rate of contributions.

The amount of superannuation contributions paid by Cairns Regional
Council to the superannuation scheme in this period for the benefit of
employees was:

Salary growth risk - The risk that wages or salaries will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing vested 
benefits to be funded.

Total superannuation contributions paid by Council:
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19 Trust funds held for outside parties

2018 2017

$ $

32,211           29,021           
Security deposits 3,403,251      3,727,127      

-               55                  
3,435,462      3,756,203      

20
Net result attributable to Council 35,084,057    32,075,002    

Depreciation and amortisation 91,090,841    86,287,419    
91,090,841    86,287,419    

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions (70,913,222)   (51,073,035)   
Capital expenses 37,623,510    25,417,908    
(Increase)/decrease in accrual for capital expenditure (3,461,404)     5,792,971      

(36,751,116)   (19,862,156)   

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (1,085,538)     (450,489)        
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (15,346)          626,534         
Increase/(decrease) in payables (6,804,532)     7,087,940      
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 1,690,431      904,833         
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (587,041)        98,087           

(6,802,026)     8,266,905      

Net cash inflow from operating activities 82,621,756    106,767,170  

21 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from finance activities
Loans
As at 1 July 87,509,687    96,047,291    

Cash proceeds from borrowings 32,000,000    -               
Cash repayments of borrowings (8,791,631)     (8,537,604)     
Non-cash changes -               -               

At at 30 June 110,718,056  87,509,687    

Council performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies. As the monies cannot be used for Council
purposes, they are not brought to account in these financial statements. Funds held in the trust account on
behalf of outside parties include those funds from the sale of land for arrears in rates, deposits for the
contracted sale of land, security deposits lodged to guarantee performance and unclaimed monies paid into the
trust account by Council.  

Monies collected or held on behalf of other entities yet to be paid out to 
or on behalf of those entities

Unclaimed monies

Non-cash operating items:

Investing and development activities:

Reconciliation of net result attributable to Council to net cash flow from operating activities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
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22 Transactions with Related Parties
a) Controlled Entities

b) Transactions with key management personnel (KMP)

2018 2017
$ $

Short-term employee benefits 3,277,173        3,371,830        
Post-term benefits 335,699           379,662           
Long-term benefits 43,961             44,491             
Termination benefits -                 102,419           
Total 3,656,833        3,898,402        

c)   Transactions with other related parties

Employee expenses for close family members of KMP 587,477           481,272           

d)   Outstanding balances

e)  Loans and guarantees to/from related parties

f)  Commitments to/from other related parties

g) Transactions with related parties that have not been disclosed

- Payment of rates, fees and charges
- Dog registration
- Use of Council facilities such as swimming pools and car parking

Controlled entities of Council are Cairns Art Gallery (incorporating its subsidiary Cairns Regional Gallery Arts Trust)
and Cairns River Improvement Trust.  Details of controlled entities are disclosed in Note 1.

During the year, Council provided funding to Cairns Art Gallery with a total value of $1,388,367 (2017: $1,339,904)
and to Cairns River Improvement Trust with a total value of $200,000 (2017: $200,000). In addition, the premises
occupied by Cairns Art Gallery are provided to them by Council for a nominal annual amount. Both entities are
dependent on funding provided by Council. Funding support has been agreed to by the Council for the 2017/18
financial year.

Council has no outstanding commitments to/from other related parties.

KMP include the Mayor, Councillors, Council's Chief Executive Officer and executive management. The
compensation paid to KMP comprises: 

Close family members of KMP were employed through an arm's length process in accordance with Council's
recruitment policies. They are paid in accordance with the relevant award for the job they perform. The above figure
includes all remuneration received by close family members of KMP.

Most of the entities and people that are related parties of Council live and operate within the Cairns Region.
Therefore, on a regular basis ordinary citizen transactions occur between Council and its related parties. Some
examples include:

Council has not included these types of transactions in its disclosure, where they are made on the same terms and
conditions available to the general public. 

The Local Government Superannuation Scheme is also a related entity of Council. Details including contributions
made during the year are disclosed in Note 18.

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the annual report.

Council does not make loans to or receive loans from related parties. No guarantees have been provided.

There were no material balances outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with
related parties. No expense has been recognised in the current year or prior year for bad or doubtful debts in
respect of amounts owed by related parties.

There were no other material transactions with other related parties during the year. All transactions with other
related parties occurred at arm's length and under Council's normal terms and conditions.

Other related parties include the close family members of KMP and any entities controlled or jointly controlled by
KMP or their close family members. Close family members include a spouse, child and dependent of a KMP or their
spouse.  Details of transactions between Council and other related parties are disclosed below:

30



Cairns Regional Council

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

23 Financial instruments
a) Financial risk 

i)   Credit risk

No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by Council.

2018 2017
Note $ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - bank 8 106,385               265,609           
Cash and cash equivalents - on hand 8 28,350                 34,240             
Cash and cash equivalents - QTC 8 18,267,539          12,620,621      
Receivables - rates 9 21,412,793          19,478,851      
Receivables - other 9 13,366,997          13,342,289      

Other credit exposures
Guarantee 17(a) 2,718,641            2,805,852        

Total 55,900,705          48,547,462      

Cash and cash equivalents
Council may be exposed to credit risk through its investments in the QTC Cash Fund and QTC Working
Capital Facility. The QTC Cash Fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide range of high
credit rated counterparties. Deposits with the QTC Cash Fund are capital guaranteed. Working Capital
Facility deposits have a duration of one day and all investments are required to have a minimum credit rating
of "A-", therefore the likelihood of the counterparty having capacity to meet its financial commitments is
strong.

Council is responsible for the establishment and oversight of a risk management framework, together with
developing and monitoring risk management policies. Council's management approves policies for overall
risk management, as well as specifically for managing credit, liquidity and market risk. 

Council's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to set appropriate
limits and controls and to monitor these risks and adherence against limits. Council aims to manage volatility
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of Council. 

Investments in financial instruments are required to be made with Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC)
or similar state/commonwealth bodies or financial institutions in Australia, in line with the requirements of the
Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982 .

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of credit counterparty ability to meet payment
obligations. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations. These obligations arise principally from Council's investments and receivables from customers.

Council does not enter into derivatives.

The following table represents the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the carrying amounts of
financial assets at the end of the reporting period:
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Other financial assets

2018 2017
$ $

Receivables
Fully performing 25,707,025     29,175,765    
Past due

Less than 30 days 477,700          497,920         
31 to 60 days 339,517          254,913         
61 to 90 days 145,809          80,525           
Over 90 days 8,109,739       6,553,965      

Impaired 1,647,281       1,374,484      
Total 36,427,071     37,937,572    

ii)   Liquidity risk

2018 2017
$ $

QTC working capital facility 60,000,000 30,000,000    
Available at 30 June 60,000,000 30,000,000    

Total contractual cash flows 0 to 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying 
amount

$ $ $
2018
Trade and other payables 32,473,478     -                   -                   
Loans - QTC 14,546,973     58,336,977      50,986,199      

47,020,451     58,336,977      50,986,199      

2017
Trade and other payables 39,564,852     -                   -                   39,564,852     39,564,852    
Loans - QTC 10,877,198     43,508,791      43,328,165      97,714,154     87,509,687    

50,442,050     43,508,791      43,328,165      137,279,006   127,074,539 

Total

Liquidity risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of business and through its borrowings with QTC.

Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities, both
short and long term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows. These facilities are disclosed in note 14. The
following lines of credit were available at the end of the reporting period.  

The following table sets out the liquidity risk in relation to financial liabilities held by Council. It represents the
remaining contractual cash flows (principal and interest) of financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period,
excluding the impact of netting agreements:

The outflows in the table are not expected to occur significantly earlier and are not expected to be for significantly
different amounts than indicated in the table.

$ $

156,343,627     143,191,535    

32,473,478       
123,870,149     

32,473,478      
110,718,057    

Other investments are held with financial institutions, which are rated A-1+, A-2 and unrated based, and whilst not
capital guaranteed, the likelihood of a credit failure is assessed as remote.

In other cases, Council assesses the credit risk before providing goods or services and applies normal business
credit protection procedures to minimise the risk.

By the nature of Councils operations, there is a geographical concentration of risk in Council's area. Because the
area is largely tourism, there is also a concentration in the tourism sector.

Ageing of past due receivables and the amount of any impairment is disclosed in the following table:

In the case of rate receivables, Council has the power to sell the property to recover any defaulted amounts. In effect
this power protects Council against credit risk in the case of defaults.

Trade and other receivables
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iii)   Market risk

Interest rate risk

b)   Fair value

The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the original
transaction, less any allowance for impairment.

The fair value of borrowings with QTC is based on the market value of the debt outstanding. The market value of
a debt obligation is the discounted value of future cash flows based on prevailing market rates and represents the
amount required to be repaid if this was to occur at balance date. The market value of debt is provided by QTC
and is discussed in Note 14.

QTC applies a book rate approach in the management of debt and interest rate risk, to limit the impact of market
value movements to clients' cost of funding. The book value represents the carrying value based on amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect Council's income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments.

Council is exposed to interest rate risk through investments and borrowings with QTC. Council has access to a
mix of variable and fixed rate funding options through QTC so that interest rate risk exposure can be minimised.
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24 National Competition Policy

Activities to which the Code of Competitive Conduct is applied

1) Significant Business Activities

a)

b)

Significant Business Activities of Council are:

and minor works and providing services to external clients.

2) Prescribed Business Activities

Mandatory application of the Code of Competitive Conduct (CCC)

a)   

i)   
ii)  

i.  
 
ii.  
 

b)  

i)   
     
ii)  

Discretionary application of the CCC

If it is decided that CCC is not to apply to a business activity that exceeds this threshold, the reasons as to why the
CCC was not applied must be included in the resolution.

Section 47(7) of the Local Government Act 2009 requires that Council must decide by resolution whether to apply
the CCC to:

Any other business activity that has expenditure for the previous financial year that exceeds the
thresholds set by a regulation. (the Prescribed Business Activity threshold)

The Prescribed Business Activity threshold is required to be reviewed and gazetted each year by the Minister. As per
Section 39(1) of the Local Government Regulation 2012  the threshold for 2017/18 is $328,000. 

involves performing building certifying functions (within the meaning of the Building Act, section 
10); and
is prescribed under a regulation.

constructing or maintaining a road in the local government area, that the local government put
out to competitive tender; or
constructing or maintaining a road in another local government area that the local government
put out to competitive tender.

A building certifying activity is a business activity that:

Section 47 of the Local Government Act 2009  requires that the CCC be applied to the following activities:

Roads activity means a business activity that involves:

From 1 July 2018, Cairns Works is no longer a significant business activity of Council.

is conducted in competition, or potential competition, with the private sector (including off-street
parking, quarries, sporting facilities, for example); and
has expenditure for the previous financial year that exceeds the thresholds set by a regulation (the
Significant Business Activity thresholds)

The Significant Business Activity thresholds are required to be reviewed and gazetted each year by the Minister. As
per Section 19(2) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 the following thresholds appIied for 2017/18:

constructing or maintaining a State controlled road, that the State put out to competitive tender or

Definition of Activities:

Section 43(4) of the Local Government Act 2009 defines a significant business as a business activity of a local
government that: 

for water and sewerage combined activities - $ 13.96 million
for other activities - $9.35 million

34



Cairns Regional Council

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Voluntary Application of the CCC

i)

ii)

Prescribed Business Activities of Council are:

Applying the CCC

2017/18 Activity Statements

Cairns Water Cairns Resource 
Recovery Cairns Works

$ $ $
Revenue

Services provided to the Council 16,757,440         1,695,741           22,916,205         
Services provided to external clients 136,263,967        32,075,081         1,281,322           
Community Service Obligations (net of charges) 3,957,350           980,371              -                      

Revenue Total 156,978,757        34,751,193         24,197,527         
Less: Expenditure

Employee Costs 23,662,788         2,190,459           19,316,966         
Materials and Services 42,283,806         24,639,045         44,241,427         
Depreciation 34,234,220         726,533              -                    
Other Expenditure 16,371,090         2,487,418           -                    

Expenditure Total 116,551,904        30,043,455         63,558,393         
Surplus/(Deficit) Before Dividend 40,426,853         4,707,738           (39,360,866)        

Ticket Link Car Parking Caravan Parks

$ $ $
Revenue

Services provided to Council 520                     1,275                  -                      
Services provided to external clients 311,442              1,806,942           116,275              
Community service obligations (net of charges) 25,883                (2,227)                 4,788                  

Revenue total 337,845              1,805,990           121,063              
Less:  Expenditure

Employee Costs -                    73,221                -                    
Materials and Services 350,220              438,143              96,194                
Depreciation -                    207,154              21,755                
Other Expenditure 300                     114,723              20,643                

Expenditure Total 350,520              833,241              138,592              
Surplus/(deficit) (12,675)               972,749              (17,529)               

Significant Business Activities

Prescribed Business Activities

Applying the CCC requires the application of full cost pricing, identifying the cost of Community Service Obligations
(CSO) and eliminating the advantages and disadvantages of public ownership within that activity. 

The CSO represents an costs, which would not be incurred if the primary objective was to make a
profit. The Council provides funding from general revenue to the business activity to cover the cost of providing non-

Below are the Activity Statements for the Significant and Prescribed Business Activities of which the Code of
Competitive Conduct applies for the 2017/18 financial year, as required by Section 35 of the Local Government
Regulation 2012 .

Council may also elect to apply the CCC to any other business activity it decides to as per Section 47(9) of the Local 
Government Act 2009 .  For CCC purposes, Council defines a business activity as:

trading in goods and services to clients in competition with the private sector; or

the submission of a competitive tender in the local own tendering process in
competition with others for the provision of goods and services to itself. 
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2017/18 Community Service Obligations

Significant Business Activities

2018
Activities CSO Description $

Water Service locations 187,687              
Fire Hydrants Maintenance 508,346              
Access charges forgone 442,359              
Usage Charges forgone 1,713,627           
Total 2,852,019           

Wastewater Service locations 53,423                
Access Charges forgone 1,051,908           
Total 1,105,331           

Cairns Works Water charges (18,713)               

Waste Services Free dumping general waste 416,147              
Free disposal vouchers 10,640                
Free dumping vegetation 288,738              
Free mulch 106,834              
Free transportation costs between transfer stations 76,058                
Rates based financial assistance 46,896                
Schools Recycling 26,150                
In Kind Waste & Recycling Collections 6,508                  
Donations of buy back items to charity 2,400                  
Total 980,371              

Prescribed Business Activities

2018
Activities $

Ticket Link 25,883                

Car Parking (2,227)                 

Caravan Parks 4,788                  Rental revenue forgone

CSO Description

Assistance to community hirers

Water charges
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These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to Sections 176 and 177 of the Local
Government Regulation 2012 (the Regulation) and other prescribed requirements.

In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that:

(i) the prescribed requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 and Local Government Regulation 2012 for the
establishment and keeping of accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and

(ii) the general purpose financial statements present a true and fair view, in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, of the Council's transactions for the financial year and financial position at the end of the year.

Bob Manning John Andrejic
Mayor Chief Executive Officer

Date: 26 September 2018 Date: 26 September 2018



 

 

To the Councillors of Cairns Regional Council 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Cairns Regional Council.  

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the as at 30 June 2018, and of 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

b) complies with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 2012 
and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the certificate given by the Mayor 
and Chief Executive Officer. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of my report. 

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Other information 

Other information comprises the information included in Cairns Regional C  annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and my 

port the 
current year financial sustainability statement and long-term financial sustainability statement 
and the annual report. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. However, as required by the Local 
Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a separate opinion on the current year 
financial sustainability statement. 

  



 
In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the council for the financial report 

The council is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 
2012 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the council 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The council is also responsible for assessing the council's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the council or to otherwise cease 
operations.  

eport 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

l of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the council's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council. 

  



 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the council's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the council's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 

financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my 

However, future events or conditions may cause the council to cease to continue as a 
going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2018: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required. 

b) In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping 
of accounts were complied with in all material respects. 

 
 
 
 
 
Patrick Flemming 

 
 
 
 

26 September 2018 
Queensland Audit Office 

as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane 
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Current-year Financial Sustainability Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Measures of Financial Sustainability

How the measure is calculated Target 30 June 2018
Result

Operating surplus ratio Net result (excluding capital items)
divided by total operating revenue
(excluding capital items)

Between 0%
and 10%

1%

Asset sustainability ratio Capital expenditure on the
replacement of assets (renewals)
divided by depreciation expense.

Greater than
90%

101%

Net financial liabilities ratio Total liabilities less current assets
divided by total operating revenue
(excluding capital items)

Not greater
than 60%

42%

Note 1 - Basis of Preparation

The current year financial sustainability statement is a special purpose statement prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Government Regulation 2012 and the Financial Management (Sustainability) Guideline
2013. The amounts used to calculate the three reported measures are prepared on an accrual basis and are
drawn from the Council's audited general purpose financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018.

Certificate of Accuracy
For the year ended 30 June 2018

This current-year financial sustainability statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 178 of the Local
Government Regulation 2012 (the regulation).

In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that this current-year financial sustainability
statement has been accurately calculated.

Bob Manning John Andrejic
Mayor Chief Executive Officer

Date: 26 September 2018 Date: 26 September 2018



 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT  REPORT 
 
To the Councillors of Cairns Regional Council 
 
Report on the Current-Year Financial Sustainability Statement 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying current year financial sustainability statement of Cairns 
Regional Council for the year ended 30 June 2018, comprising the statement, explanatory 
notes, and the certificate of accuracy given by the Mayor and the Chief Executive Officer. 

In accordance with section 212 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, in my opinion, in 
all material respects, the current year financial sustainability statement of Cairns Regional 
Council for the year ended 30 June 2018 has been accurately calculated. 

Basis of opinion  

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the responsibilities for the audit of the 
current year financial sustainability statement section of my report.  

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the statement in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Emphasis of matter  basis of accounting 

I draw attention to Note 1 which describes the basis of accounting. The current year financial 
sustainability statement has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
(Sustainability) Guideline 2013 for the purpose of fulfilling the c
responsibilities under the Local Government Regulation 2012. As a result, the statement 
may not be suitable for another purpose. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Information 

Other information comprises the information included in Cairns Regional Council  annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the current year financial 
sustainability statement report 
the other information was the general purpose financial statements and long-term financial 
sustainability statement and the annual report. 

My opinion on the current year financial sustainability statement does not cover the other 
information and accordingly I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
However, as required by the Local Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a 
separate opinion on the general purpose financial report. 

  



 
In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the council for the current year financial sustainability statement 

The council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the current year 
financial sustainability statement in accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012. 
The council s responsibility also includes such internal control as the council determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the statement that is accurately 
calculated and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

udit of the current year financial sustainability 
statement 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the current year financial 
sustainability statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this statement.  

My responsibility does not extend to forming an opinion on the appropriateness or relevance 
of the reported ratios, nor on the c  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the statement, including the 
disclosures, and whether the statement represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

  



 
I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 

 

26 September 2018 
Patrick Flemming Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General  Brisbane 
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Appendix A
For the year ended 30 June 2018

THE FOLLOWING REPORT DOES NOT FORM PART OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
IT HAS BEEN PROVIDED AS ADDITIONAL MANAGEMENT INFORMATION TO ASSIST THE
READER IN THEIR ANALYSIS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.



Cairns Regional Council

Measures of Financial Sustainability

Cairns Regional Council's Financial Management Strategy
Council aims to operate within a set of conservative guide-posts to ensure we are financially sustainable in the short, medium and long term. As part of our financial strategy, we have the
above three sustainability indicators that have been set by the Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs to help monitor the long-term sustainability of all councils
across Queensland. Throughout the financial year, these indicators are calculated and reported on monthly at Council meetings, as part of a full suite of financial reports. Should there be
any deviation outside these parameters, the executive management and Council will be fully informed and may take corrective action as required.

The above ratios have been calculated using Council's most recently adopted budget review.

Certificate of Accuracy
For the long-term financial sustainability statement prepared as at 30 June 2018

This long-term financial sustainability statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 178 of the Local Government Regulation 2012 (the regulation).
In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that this long-term financial sustainability statement has been accurately calculated.

Bob Manning John Andrejic
Mayor Chief Executive Officer

Date: 26 September 2018 Date: 26 September 2018
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